Worcestershire County Council

Agenda

Planning and Regulatory
Committee

Tuesday, 6 December 2016, 10.00 am
County Hall, Worcester

Notes:
Councillors are advised that letters of representation received from local residents in respect

of the planning applications on this agenda will be available for inspection in the Member
Support Unit 3 days before the Committee and in the meeting room from 9.30am on the day of

the meeting

Planning Officers are available for up to 30 minutes prior to the start of the meeting to enable
Councillors and the public to ask questions about the applications to be considered. This is

not a part of the meeting itself but is an informal opportunity for anyone present on the day to
clarify factual details about the applications, examine background documents and view plans

that are on display

This document can be provided in alternative formats such as Large Print, an audio recording
or Braille; it can also be emailed as a Microsoft Word attachment. Please contact Democratic
Services on telephone number 01905 846621 or by emailing
democraticservices@worcestershire.gov.uk

If you can not understand the contents of this document and do not have access to anyone who can translate it for you, please contact 01905 765765 for help.
e | WA I GF AEEE Ry JS A SEN 932 WA S WA AT T SRS 1S A1 A9E, SR FE NEEE T 01905 765765 THA WIS FF | (Bengali)
AT - ANRE AR N AR AR, L0 H3 T ARSI g - SHHT 01905 765765 SRk HKiL) - (Cantonese)
Wil A0 R A ST P EATAE O AR 2 A0 )T LS AT A RESS o e 0 8 5 PR, 94%4T 01905 765765 -k ¥ih. (Mandarin)

Polski ezeli nie rozumiejg Panstwo tresci tego dokumentu i nie znaja nikogo, kto mogiby go dla Panstwa przettumaczy¢, prosze zadzwoni¢ pod numer 01905 765765 w celu uzyskania pomocy. (Polish)
Portugués. Se nao conseguir compreender o conteldo deste documento e ndo conhecer ninguém que lho possa traduzir, contacte o 01905 765765 para obter assisténcia. (Portuguese)
Espaiiol. Si no comprende el contenido de este documento ni conoce a nadie que puéda traducirselo, puede solicitar ayuda llamando al teléfono 01905 765765. (Spanish)

Tirkge. Bu dokiimanin igerigini anlayamazsaniz veya dokimani sizin igin terclime edebilecek birisine ulagamiyorsaniz, liitfen yardim igin 01905 765765 numarali telefonu arayiniz. (Turkish)
(Urdu) o8 ~Jai) ) 3 01905 765765 i S 334 p 1S ol y ¢ 55 S S man 518 Gl i Sl s o i oy (5 ol S0 gl ) (onS ) oy pnall e s 55 S salia (S i o 1 81 )l
(Kurdish) 5 559 61513 5 01905 765765 wse ke’ 1 a5 (o ialed i3 023 0 o s g o€ SIEL € ga g ey sl aad (S5 g0 5 ol (a8 (150 o (30 e 5208

worcestershire

Findout mereronling: = & we® »2 fai #fed feradt da ude ot 3, & fower 393wl wewe a9 w3, 3 faawr aed S
www.worcestershire.gov.uk




DISCLOSING INTERESTS

There are now 2 types of interests:
'Disclosable pecuniary interests' and 'other disclosable interests'

WHAT IS A 'DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST' (DPI)?

e Any employment, office, trade or vocation carried on for profit or gain

e Sponsorship by a 3" party of your member or election expenses

e Any contract for goods, services or works between the Council and you, a firm where
you are a partner/director, or company in which you hold shares

e Interests in land in Worcestershire (including licence to occupy for a month or longer)

e Shares etc (with either a total nominal value above £25,000 or 1% of the total issued
share capital) in companies with a place of business or land in Worcestershire.

NB Your DPIs include the interests of your spouse/partner as well as you

WHAT MUST | DO WITH A DPI?
e Register it within 28 days and
e Declare it where you have a DPI in a matter at a particular meeting
- you must not participate and you must withdraw.
NB It is a criminal offence to participate in matters in which you have a DPI

WHAT ABOUT 'OTHER DISCLOSABLE INTERESTS'?
¢ No need to register them but
e You must declare them at a particular meeting where:
You/your family/person or body with whom you are associated have
a pecuniary interest in or close connection with the matter under discussion.

WHAT ABOUT MEMBERSHIP OF ANOTHER AUTHORITY OR PUBLIC BODY?
You will not normally even need to declare this as an interest. The only exception is where the

conflict of interest is so significant it is seen as likely to prejudice your judgement of the public
interest.

DO I HAVE TO WITHDRAW IF | HAVE A DISCLOSABLE INTEREST WHICH ISN'T A DPI?
Not normally. You must withdraw only if it:
e affects your pecuniary interests OR
relates to a planning or regulatory matter
e AND itis seen as likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest.

DON'T FORGET

e If you have a disclosable interest at a meeting you must disclose both its existence
and nature — 'as noted/recorded’ is insufficient

e Declarations must relate to specific business on the agenda

- General scattergun declarations are not needed and achieve little

e Breaches of most of the DPI provisions are now criminal offences which may be
referred to the police which can on conviction by a court lead to fines up to £5,000
and disqualification up to 5 years

e Formal dispensation in respect of interests can be sought in appropriate cases.

Simon Mallinson Head of Legal and Democratic Services July 2012 WCC/SPM summary/f



% worcestershire

Planning and Regulatory Committee
Tuesday, 6 December 2016, 10.00 am, County Hall, Worcester

Councillors: Mr R C Adams (Chairman), Ms P Agar, Mr AT Amos, Mrs S Askin,
Mr P J Bridle, Mr S J M Clee, Mr P Denham (Vice Chairman),
Mrs A T Hingley, Mr | Hopwood, Mr A P Miller, Mr D W Prodger MBE,
Mr R J Sutton and Vacancy

Agenda

Item No Subject Page No

1 Named Substitutes

2 Apologies/Declarations of Interest

3 Public Participation

The Council has put in place arrangements which usually allow one
speaker each on behalf of objectors, the applicant and supporters of
applications to address the Committee. Speakers are chosen from
those who have made written representations and expressed a desire to
speak at the time an application is advertised. Where there are
speakers, presentations are made as part of the consideration of each
application.

4 Confirmation of Minutes
To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 1 November 2016.
(previously circulated — pink pages)

5 Proposed change of use of agricultural buildings and associated 1-34
land to reclamation facility (MRF) at Weights Farm, Weights Lane,
Redditch, Worcestershire

6 Proposed construction of a single storey building to form an early 35-52
years cabin and forest school boot room at Blackwell First School,
St Catherine's Road, Blackwell

7 Proposed change of use from mixed use D1 (Libraries) and B1 53 - 68
(Offices) to mixed use D1 (Libraries), B1 (Offices) and A2 (Financial
and Professional Services) at Redditch Library, 115, Market Place,
Redditch, Worcestershire

Agenda produced and published by Simon Mallinson, Head of Legal and Democratic Services, County Hall,
Spetchley Road, Worcester WR5 2NP

To obtain further information or a copy of this agenda, contact Simon Lewis, Committee Officer. Telephone
Worcester (01905) (846621)
email: slewis@worcestershire.gov.uk

All the above reports and supporting information can be accessed via the Council’s website

Date of Issue: Friday, 25 November 2016


mailto:slewis@worcestershire.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank



<'countycouncil

PLANNING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE
6 DECEMBER 2016

PROPOSED CHANGE OF USE OF AGRICULTURAL
BUILDINGS AND ASSOCIATED LAND TO MATERIAL
RECLAMATION FACILITY (MRF) AT WEIGHTS FARM,
WEIGHTS LANE, REDDITCH, WORCESTERSHIRE

rworcestershire AGENDA ITEM 5

Applicant
Mr Adam Wood

Local Member
Mr C B Taylor

Purpose of Report

1. To consider a County Matter planning application for the proposed change of use
of agricultural buildings and associated land to Material Reclamation Facility (MRF) at
Weights Farm, Weights Lane, Redditch, Worcestershire.

Background

2. Weights Farm is a working farm that has diversified into industrial activities and
waste management. There are about 40 businesses trading from 58 commercial units
operating at Weights Farm, providing approximately 100 jobs. One of these
businesses is Redditch Skip Hire, a skip hire and Waste Transfer Station, which
operates from units 19 and 20 and is owned by the applicant.

The Proposal

3. The applicant is seeking planning permission for a proposed change of use of
agricultural buildings and associated land to MRF at Weights Farm, Weights Lane,
Redditch.

4. The proposed development would change the use class of 6 existing agricultural
buildings and associated land to a sui generis use of a Material Reclamation Facility
(MRF). Two agricultural buildings within the application site would be retained for
agricultural use (units 65 and 66). The 6 buildings proposed for the change of use are
the following:

Building 59 measuring about 473 square metres
Building 60 measuring about 877 square metres
Building 61 measuring about 1,382 square metres
Building 62 measuring about 740 square metres
Building 63 measuring about 2,367 square metres
Building 64 measuring about 1,970 square metres

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 1



5. The cumulative floor area of the six buildings is approximately 7,809 square
metres. The proposed MRF would process up to 100,000 tonnes of waste per year.
This would be an increase of approximately 75,000 tonnes per annum compared to
the existing Waste Transfer Station (Redditch Skip Hire). This equates to about 300
tonnes per working day. The facility would accept the following types of waste:

e Construction and Demolition (C&D) waste

e Metals

e Wood Chipping and Timber

e Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment (WEEE)
e Tyres

e Plastics

[ ]

Plasterboard.

6. The applicant has confirmed that all unsorted / untreated waste would arrive by
skip lorry, which would be weighed on the proposed weighbridge. Mixed waste would
be tipped and sorted within unit 61. Pre-sorted waste would be taken to units 60, 61,
62 and 63. Empty skips would be temporarily stored within unit 61. Other empty skips
would be stored off site at Redditch Skip Hire (units 19 and 20). All sorting, washing,
crushing and chipping would take place within the buildings. Sorted waste would be
transferred for processing and treatment in units 60, 61, 62, 63 (where the processing
plant would be located) and the former silage clamp (bays E and F). Sorted,
processed and treated waste would be stored temporarily in bays A (grade A timber),
B (grade B timber), C (tree clippings and topsoil) and D (brick/rubble/soil). Waste that
cannot be recycled would be stored temporarily in unit 64, before being taken to
landfill. Treated waste would then be exported from the site via skip lorries for further
processing and recycling at other waste management facilities or for use in
manufacturing. Any recycled materials would be sold on a pre-ordered basis. On-site
sales would be prohibited.

7. The proposal would employ about 50 members of staff (full-time equivalent), which
would be an increase of approximately 20 members of staff (full-time equivalent)
compared to the existing Waste Transfer Station. The proposed MRF would operate
between the hours of 06:00 hours to 19:00 hours Mondays to Saturdays, inclusive.

8. 25 car parking spaces are proposed of which 4 spaces would be dedicated for
disabled users. 7 spaces are proposed for HGV parking and 6 cycle spaces are
proposed.

9. A new weighbridge is proposed to be installed at the proposed MRF, adjacent to
the site access.

10. The existing Waste Transfer Station would continue to be operated by Redditch
Skip Hire from their existing premises (units 19 and 20) on Weights Farm, but only
insofar as empty skips would be stored within the units. Waste management
operations are proposed to be relocated to the application site.

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 2



The Site

11. The application site is approximately 3.3 hectares in area and is located
approximately 1.9 kilometres north of Redditch Town Centre, within the administrative
boundaries of Bromsgrove District Council, immediately north of the Redditch
Borough administrative boundary. The whole of the application site is located within
the Green Belt.

12. Immediately to the north-east and east of the application site is a railway line,
beyond which is agricultural land. To the north is agricultural land, and west is
agricultural land and the dwelling of Lucerne House. Weights Lane landfill site, an
inert landfill (County Planning Authority Refs: 407235, 407325, 407376, Minutes 1580
and 280 refers) is operated by the applicant’s family (J & S A Wood) is located
approximately 115 metres west of the proposal. To the south are commercial
businesses operating from Weights Farm. This includes the applicant's existing
Waste Transfer Station / Skip Hire Business (Redditch Skip Hire), located about 145
metres south of the proposal.

13. The site is accessed via a private road, off Weights Lane (U22404), which
connects to the Birmingham Road (A441) about 650 metres to the east of the site.

14. National Grid's high pressure gas pipeline runs along the north-eastern boundary
of the application site and Health and Safety Executive's Major Accident Hazard
Pipeline zone that buffers this pipeline is located within the application site. Western
Power Destruction's overhead powerline and underground cable (Surf Telecom
apparatus) are located approximately 115 metres and 30 metres west of the
proposed development, respectively.

15. Hewell Park Lake Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) is located
approximately 2 kilometres west of the proposal. Dagnell End Meadow SSSI is located
about 1.7 kilometres south-east of the proposal. Butler's Hill Wood Local Wildlife Site
(LWS) and Shortwood Rough Grounds LWS are located about 225 metres and 1
kilometre north-west of the application site, respectively. River Arrow LWS is located
about 295 metres east of the proposal. Brockhill Wood LWS is located approximately
915 metres south-west of the proposed development. A Landscape Protection Area
designated by the adopted Bromsgrove District Local Plan is located on the western
side of Weights Lane.

16. The registered park and garden of Hewell Grange is situated approximately 1.6
kilometres west of the application site. The Grade Il Listed Buildings of ‘Bordesley
Lodge Farmhouse', ‘Granary' and 'Water Pump' are located about 855 metres south-
east of the proposal. Bridleway TC-540 is located about 370 metres west of the
proposal.

17. The nearest existing residential properties to the application site are that of
Lucerne House located approximately 40 metres south of the site, and Butlers Field
Cottage situated approximately 70 metres north-west of the site. Further dwellings of
Orchard House, Primrose Cottage and Weights Cottage are situated about 240
metres and 435 metres south-east of the proposal, accessed off Weights Lane.

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 3



18. Outline planning permission was granted by Redditch Borough Council on 11
March 2014 for 'mixed use development of up to 200 dwellings, 5,000 square metres
(gross) Class B1 office floorspace with associated open space and access
arrangements' on land at Weights Lane, Redditch (Redditch Borough Council Ref:
2012/120/0UT). The subsequent Reserved Matters planning application was granted
on 16 December 2015 (Redditch Borough Council Ref: 2015/265/RM) and works
have now commenced on site. This site is located about 335 metres south-east of the
proposed development.

19. A mixed use development of 296 dwellings, play area, community house and
public open space and outline application for up to 3,100 square metres of Class B1
(Business) floorspace and access (Redditch Borough Council Ref: 2014/256/0OUT) is
pending consideration, awaiting the satisfactory completion of a Section 106 Planning
Obligation. This development is located about 450 metres south-east of the
application site.

20. Planning permission was granted for the Bordesley Bypass (County Planning
Authority Refs: 602510 and 603332, Minutes 530 and 451 refers) by the then
Hereford and Worcester County Council County Planning Sub-Committee in 1995
and the Worcestershire County Council Planning and Regulatory Committee in 2006.
Both planning permissions have since expired.

Summary of Issues
21. The main issues in the determination of this application are:-

The Waste Hierarchy

Location of the Development

Green Belt

Landscape Character and Appearance
Residential Amenity (Noise, Dust and Odour)
Traffic and Highways Safety

The Water Environment

Ecology and Biodiversity.

Planning Policy

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

22. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published and came into
effect on 27 March 2012. The NPPF sets out the Government's planning policies for
England and how these are expected to be applied. It constitutes guidance for local
planning authorities and decision takers and is a material planning consideration in
determining planning applications. Annex 3 of the NPPF lists the documents revoked
and replaced by the NPPF. At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of
sustainable development, which should be seen as a golden thread running through
plan-making and decision-taking.

23. Sustainable Development is defined by five principles set out in the UK
Sustainable Development Strategy:

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 4



"living within the planet's environmental limits;
ensuring a strong, healthy and just society;
achieving a sustainable economy;

promoting good governance; and

using sound science responsibly”.

24. The Government believes that sustainable development can play three critical
roles in England:

e an economic role, contributing to a strong, responsive, competitive economy

e asocial role, supporting vibrant and healthy communities and

e an environmental role, protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic
environment.

25. The NPPF does not contain specific waste policies, as these are contained within
the National Planning Policy for Waste. However, the NPPF states that local
authorities taking decisions on waste applications should have regard to the policies
in the NPPF so far as relevant. For that reason the following guidance contained in
the NPPF, is considered to be of specific relevance to the determination of this
planning application:-

Section 1: Building a strong, competitive economy

Section 3: Supporting a prosperous rural economy

Section 4: Promoting sustainable transport

Section 7: Requiring good design

Section 8: Promoting healthy communities

Section 9: Protecting Green Belt land

Section 10: Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal
change

Section 11: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
e Section 12: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment
e Section 13: Facilitating the sustainable use of minerals

National Planning Policy for Waste

26. The National Planning Policy for Waste was published on 16 October 2014 and
replaces "Planning Policy Statement 10 (PPS 10): Planning for Sustainable Waste
Management" as the national planning policy for waste in England. The document
sets out detailed waste planning policies, and should be read in conjunction with the
NPPF, the Waste Management Plan for England and National Policy Statements for
Waste Water and Hazardous Waste, or any successor documents. All local planning
authorities should have regard to its policies when discharging their responsibilities to
the extent that they are appropriate to waste management.

The Development Plan

27. The Development Plan is the strategic framework that guides land use planning
for the area. In this respect the current Development Plan consists of the
Worcestershire Waste Core Strategy Development Plan Document, and the Adopted
Bromsgrove District Local Plan.

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 5



28. Planning applications should be determined in accordance with the provisions of
the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF
is a material consideration in planning decisions.

29. Annex 1 of the NPPF states that for the purposes of decision-taking, the policies
in the Local Plan should not be considered out-of-date simply because they were
adopted prior to the publication of the NPPF. However, the policies contained within
the NPPF are material considerations. For 12 months from the day of publication,
decision-takers may continue to give full weight to relevant policies adopted since
2004 even if there is a limited degree of conflict with the NPPF. In other cases and
following this 12-month period, due weight should be given to relevant policies in
existing plans according to their degree of consistency with the NPPF (the closer the
policies in the plan to the policies in the NPPF, the greater the weight that may be
given).

Worcestershire Waste Core Strategy Development Plan Document (WCS)
Policy WCS 1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy WCS 2: Enabling Waste Management Capacity

Policy WCS 3: Re-use and Recycling

Policy WCS 6: Compatible land uses

Policy WCS 8: Site infrastructure and access

Policy WCS 9: Environmental assets

Policy WCS 10: Flood risk and water resources

Policy WCS 11: Sustainable design and operation of facilities
Policy WCS 12: Local characteristics

Policy WCS 13: Green Belt

Policy WCS 14: Amenity

Policy WCS 15: Social and economic benefits

Bromsgrove District Local Plan

Policy DS1 Green Belt Designation

Policy DS2 Green Belt Development Criteria

Policy DS13 Sustainable Development

Policy C4 Criteria for Assessing Development Proposals
Policy C9 Development affecting SSSI's and NNR's

Policy C10 Development Affecting SWS's and LNR's

Policy C17 Retention of Existing Trees

Policy C27 Re-Use of Existing Rural Buildings

Policy C31 Farm Diversification Schemes

Policy C32 Criteria for Assessing Farm Diversification Schemes
Policy E9 Criteria for New Employment Development

Policy TR1 The Road Hierarchy

Policy TR2 Safeguarding of Land for Future Road Proposals
Policy TR11 Access and Off-Street Parking

Policy ES1 Protection of Natural Watercourse Systems
Policy ES4 Groundwater Protection

Policy ES14 Development near Pollution Sources

Policy ES14A Noise Sensitive Development

Draft Bromsgrove District Plan
30. The Draft Bromsgrove District Plan will outline the strategic planning policy
framework for guiding development in Bromsgrove District up to 2030. It will contain a

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 6



long-term vision and strategic objectives, a development strategy, key policies,
strategic site allocations and a monitoring and implementation statement. The Plan
will also include a copy of the Redditch Cross Boundary Development Policy (Policy
RCBD1), which appears in the Draft Borough of Redditch Local Plan No.4.

31. On 12 March 2014 Bromsgrove District Council submitted the Draft Bromsgrove
District Plan to the Secretary of State for independent examination. The Secretary of
State has appointed an independent Inspector (Mr Michael J Hetherington) to
undertake an independent examination into the soundness of the Bromsgrove District
Plan. The Bromsgrove District Plan and the Borough of Redditch Local Plan No.4
examinations are being held concurrently and have included several joint hearing
sessions as well as separate hearing sessions relating to each Local Plan. Hearing
sessions commenced in June 2014 and ran until March 2016.

32. The Inspector published a list of proposed Main Modifications to the submitted
Draft Bromsgrove District Plan which he considers are required to make the plan
sound. The Inspector’s proposed Main Modifications were published for an eight
week consultation from 27 July to 21 September 2016. The Inspector invited
comments on the proposed Main Modifications as part of the examination into the
Draft Bromsgrove District Plan and BORLP4. The Inspector will take account of all
representations relating to the Modifications before publishing his final report to the
Councils.

33. The Examination formally remains open until the Inspector issues his binding
report and it is possible that further hearings could be held if the Inspector chooses to
do so. In the circumstances the Draft Bromsgrove District Plan cannot yet be declared
sound and cannot be adopted. It is not yet, therefore, part of the development plan.
However, having regard to the advice in the NPPF, Annex 1, it is the view of the Head
of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy, that whilst full weight cannot be attached to
the Draft Bromsgrove District Plan, significant weight should be attached to the Draft
Bromsgrove District Plan in the determination of this application. The Draft
Bromsgrove District Plan policies that are relevant to the proposal are listed below:-

Policy BDP1 Sustainable Development Principles

Policy BDP4 Green Belt

Policy RCBD1 Redditch Cross Boundary Development
Policy BDP13 New Employment Development

Policy BDP15 Rural Renaissance

Policy BDP16 Sustainable Transport

Policy BDP19 High Quality Design

Policy BDP21 Natural Environment

Policy BDP22 Climate Change

Policy BDP23 Water Management

Waste Management Plan for England (2013)

34. The Government through Defra published the Waste Management Plan for
England in December 2013. This Plan superseded the previous waste management
plan for England, which was set out in the Waste Strategy for England 2007.

35. There are comprehensive waste management policies in England, which taken
together deliver the objectives of the revised Waste Framework Directive, therefore, it
is not the intention of the Plan to introduce new policies or to change the landscape of

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 7



how waste is managed in England. Its core aim is to bring current waste management
policies under the umbrella of one national plan.

36. This Plan is a high level document which is non-site specific, and is a waste
management, rather than a waste planning document. It provides an analysis of the
current waste management situation in England, and evaluates how it will support
implementation of the objectives and provisions of the revised Waste Framework
Directive.

37. The key aim of this Plan is to work towards a zero waste economy as part of the
transition to a sustainable economy. In particular, this means using the “waste
hierarchy” (waste prevention, re-use, recycling, recovery and finally disposal as a last
option) as a guide to sustainable waste management.

The Government Review of Waste Policy England 2011

38. The Government Review of Waste Policy in England 2011 seeks to move
towards a green, zero waste economy, where waste is driven up the waste hierarchy.
The waste hierarchy gives top priority to waste prevention, followed by preparing for
re-use, recycling, other types of recovery (including energy recovery) and last of all
disposal.

Consultations
39. Tutnall and Cobley Parish Council has no objections to the proposal.

40. Bromsgrove District Council and Redditch Borough Council have provided
the following joint comments that the site is located within the Green Belt, therefore,
the proposal should be considered against criteria (e) of Policy DS2 and Policy C27 of
the adopted Bromsgrove District Local Plan. They also note that paragraph 90 of the
NPPF considers that the re-use of buildings is acceptable in the Green Belt provided
the proposal preserves the openness of the Green Belt and does not conflict with the
purposes of including land within the Green Belt. If there is an impact on openness
the proposal would constitute an inappropriate form of development in the Green
Belt. In accordance with paragraphs 87 and of the NPPF, inappropriate development
should only be approved where there are very special circumstances that clearly
outweigh the harm to the Green Belt.

41. The Environment Agency has no objections stating that a Bespoke Permit was
issued to Mr Wood on 02/12/2014. The permit (Ref: EAWML 48235) to operate a
non-hazardous waste transfer station was transferred to Redditch Skip Hire Ltd
(operates from units 19 and 20) on 23/11/2007. The permit was varied on 23/07/2015
from a Bespoke Permit to a Standard Rules Permit SR2008No03.

42. It is likely that the permit currently in force could cover all of the proposed
activities, and the applicant is advised to contact the Environment Agency regarding
this matter. The Environmental Permit would control general management of the site,
records and reporting and emissions to land, water and air (including odour, noise
dust and vibration).

43. The Environment Agency note that according to their records there have been a
number of Permit breaches at the permitted site. All of which have been recorded as
minor breaches that are unlikely to impact on the local amenity. It is unlikely that this

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 8



proposal would significantly increase the impact on the local amenity. The
Environment Agency notes that the operating hours and vehicle movements are not
controlled by the Environmental Permit.

44. Worcestershire Regulatory Services (Air Quality and Contaminated Land)
has no objections or adverse comments in respect of air quality and contaminated
land impacts.

45. Worcestershire Regulatory Services (Noise, Dust and Odour) has no
objections, subject to the imposition of conditions requiring the development to be
carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the submitted Noise
Assessment. They note that the Noise Assessment is satisfactory and indicates a low
impact at the nearest residential property.

46. With regard to dust and odour impacts, they note that the site would require an
Environmental Permit from the Environment Agency, which would control dust and
odour emissions.

47. Public Health England has no objections, stating that they have no significant
concerns regarding risk to health of the local population from the proposed
development, subject to the applicant taking all appropriate measures to prevent or
control environmental emissions, in accordance with industry best practice.

48. Lead Local Flood Authority wishes to defer to the opinion of North
Worcestershire Water Management.

49. North Worcestershire Water Management has no objections, subject to the
imposition of a condition requiring a scheme for surface water drainage, which shall
include measures to manage and treat any surface water pollution from the site.

50. The Drainage Officer states that the site is located within the River Arrow
catchment and sits within 300 meters of the main river channel. Environment Agency
fluvial mapping indicates that the site is located within Flood Zone 1, while the site is
in moderately close proximity to the River Arrow; it is around 15 metres higher than
river level so the fluvial flood risk to the site is not considered to be significant. Based
on the surface water flood maps there is also minimal surface water pooling to the
site at the 1 in 100 year return period.

51. The applicant has only provided partial details of the sites existing drainage
arrangements. Therefore, a condition is recommended requiring the applicant to
submit a drainage showing all surface and foul connections on site, including the
main surface water drains, existing ditch line and its route to the edge of the site and
all connections from the existing roof drainage.

52. The planning application makes reference to the proposed future use of rainwater
harvesting to provide some attenuation of roof drainage, this is welcomed and it is
recommended that this is incorporated into the scheme as early as possible to
provide some betterment to the site runoff attenuation.

53. It is considered that there is increased risk of contaminated surface water runoff
being discharged from the site. With increased vehicular use and with the introduction
waste handling on site, even with careful site management, it is inevitable that there

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 9



would be some contaminant present in the surface water runoff. Therefore, physical
measures are required to be put in place to control this; these should be indicated on
the required drainage plan.

54. With respect to the Network Rail's comments, the Drainage Officer acknowledges
their concerns, however, from the details that has been provided they do not

consider that the proposals would lead to any changes on the site that would increase
the level of runoff from the site; and therefore, it is the Drainage Officer's view that the
impact to the railway would remain fairly static.

55. Severn Trent Water Limited has no objections to the proposal, subject to the
imposition of a condition requiring a scheme for the disposal of foul and surface
water.

56. The County Highways Officer has raised no objections, subject to the imposition
of a condition limiting the number of HGV movements to that outlined within the
planning application; and constructing the access and parking facilities.

57. The County Highways Officer notes that the Weights Farm site benefits from an
approved commercial / business use including the operation of a skip hire business
the changes in the traffic patterns created by the proposed development are unlikely
to result in a severe impact on the safety or capacity of the local highway network.
Approved changes to the connection to the Birmingham Road are in the process of
being constructed (under Redditch Borough Council planning permission refs:
2012/120/0UT and 2015/265/RM) and this would further address any possible
capacity issues.

58. The submitted Planning Application Planning Statement states that the number of
vehicular movements associated with the skip hire and recycling business is
restricted by the site licence and it is, therefore, thought reasonable to impose a
condition limiting the vehicular movements to those stated in the Transport
Statement. This would enable the County Planning Authority to monitor the impact of
the operation and have a degree of control over expansion of the operation should
licences for a larger operation be granted in the future that does not involve works
requiring planning permission.

59. The Campaign to Protect Rural England (CPRE) objects to the proposal on the
grounds of adverse impacts upon the Green Belt and upon the amenity of existing
local businesses and future housing developments.

60. CPRE note that the application submission considers the impact upon Butler's
Field Cottage which is assessed as having a minimal noise impact. However, no
reference has been made to the impact upon residential properties, which are now
being constructed along Weights Lane (Redditch Borough Council Ref:
2012/120/0OUT and District Ref: 2015/265/RM) or to the impact on Brockhill East
Phase Two residential development (Redditch Borough Council Ref: 2014/256/0UT).

61. They state that at the point that the Emerging Bromsgrove District Local Plan is
formally adopted, the land south of Weights Lane would cease to be Green Belt and
become an allocated housing site. This means that it is almost certain that housing
would be constructed up to Weights Lane within the next 10 to 15 years. These new

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 10



houses would be affected by the HGVs travelling along Weights Lane and by the air
and probable noise pollution caused by this proposal.

62. The application site would remain part of the Green Belt, and CPRE consider that
this is not an acceptable use in the Green Belt. They consider that the reuse of
existing agricultural or other rural buildings for industrial purposes would commonly
be acceptable, but waste transfer is not an ordinary industrial use. The application
site is already incongruous in an area, which is Green Belt, albeit brownfield land and,
as the houses advance from the south, increased traffic and associated pollution at
the site would not encourage the free access to the countryside and sustainable
modes of travel which might have been expected from housing development on the
outskirts of Redditch.

63. In addition, CPRE note that the planning application submission shows vehicle
movements taking place very close to buildings that are to be retained as cattle
sheds. This may result in a conflict between uses and if cattle and HGVs are using
the same space, there is a risk that muck would be carried onto the pubic highways,
which is considered unacceptable.

64. The County Archaeologist has no objections, stating that the application site
does not contain any known heritage assets and is also situated at some distance
from any known archaeological sites. Furthermore, the existing buildings within the
development area are all of relatively recent origin, post-dating World War Il. On that
basis the County Archaeologist does not consider that the development would affect
any heritage assets of archaeological or built historic environment interest.

65. The County Landscape Officer has no objections, stating that the application
sets out how the proposed change of use would make few changes to the site layout
and structural morphology of the existing buildings. The proposal to upgrade the
buildings and increase throughput in broad terms would not impact to the landscape
setting, or the setting of the historic farm buildings to the south-east of the site.

66. Hereford and Worcester Fire and Rescue has made no comments.

67. Natural England has no objections, stating that they are satisfied that the
proposed development being carried out in strict accordance with the submitted
application would not damage or destroy the interest features for which Dagnell End
Meadow SSSI has been notified. They therefore advise that this SSSI does not
represent a constraint in the determination of this application.

68. Worcestershire Wildlife Trust has no objections to the proposal, stating that
they are satisfied with the findings of the submitted ecology assessment, in particular
the Bat and Bird Surveys. They note the River Arrow LWS is located near to the
application site and there may be hydrological connectivity between the application
site and the LWS. Taking into account the findings of the submitted surveys and on
the assumption that pollution control measures can be conditioned in order to protect
the receiving watercourse they raise no objections and wish to defer to the County
Ecologist for all on site detailed matters relating to biodiversity.

69. The County Ecologist has no objections, subject to the imposition of a condition
outlined in the submitted Preliminary Bat Roost and Nesting Bird Assessment, namely
no works shall take place within the bird nesting season (March to August inclusive)

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 11



unless a competent ecologist has undertaken a careful, detailed check for active
birds’ nests immediately before works commence.

70. Network Rail objects to the proposal, as surface water is proposed to be drained
towards the railway. This is not acceptable to Network Rail. Surface water draining in
the direction of the railway could increase Network Rail’s liability, including increasing
the potential for flooding, soil slippage and pollution.

71. However, should planning permission be granted they recommend the following
conditions relating to: drainage scheme; scaffolding should not over-sail the railway; a
method statement for vibro-compaction machinery / piling machinery or piling and
ground treatment works; details of all excavations and earthworks adjacent to the
railway; and they encourage the installation of suitable high kerbs or crash barriers on
the site.

72. Network Rail also notes that a number of agreements, assessments and consents
are from them due to the proximity of the Railway Line. This includes: a Basic Asset
Protection Agreement; a Risk Assessment and Method Statement; and serve a Party
Wall Act 1996 notification on Network Rail.

73. Health and Safety Executive (HSE) (HSE Planning Advice Web App) has no
objections to the proposal.

74. National Grid comments that a high pressure gas pipeline crosses the site. Due to
the presence of National Grid apparatus within the application site, they advise that the
applicant contacts National Grid before any works are carried out to ensure their
apparatus is not adversely affected by the proposed works.

75. The Institute of Gas Engineers Standards (IGE/TD/1), states that no habitable
buildings be constructed within 14 metres of the proven pipeline position and with an
approximate standard easement width of 12.2 metres.

76. National Grid also advise that the County Planning Authority seek guidance from
the Health and Safety Executive.

77. Western Power Distribution comments that an 11 kV overhead electricity line
and underground cable (Surf Telecom apparatus) are located within the vicinity of the
application site. The applicant must comply with health and safety legislation and the
Western Power Distribution guidance.

78. Fisher German on behalf of Petroleum Company Limited has no objections,
subject to the development being carried out in accordance with their guidance:
"Special Requirements for Safe Working".

79. West Mercia Police has no objections, stating that they consider the proposal will
not have an adverse impact on crime and disorder.

80. Worcestershire Local Economic Partnership (LEP) has made no comments.

81. The County Sustainability Officer has made no comments.

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 12



Other Representations

82. The application has been advertised on site, in the press and by neighbour
notification. To date no letters of representation have been received commenting on
the proposal.

The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy's Comments

83. As with any planning application, this application should be determined in
accordance with the provisions of the Development Plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise. The relevant policies and key issues have been set
out earlier.

Waste Hierarchy
84. The National Planning Policy for Waste states that positive planning plays a
pivotal role in delivering this country’s waste ambitions through:

e Delivery of sustainable development and resource efficiency...by driving waste
management up the waste hierarchy

e Ensuring that waste management is considered alongside other spatial planning
concerns...recognising the positive contribution that waste management can
make to the development of sustainable communities

e Providing a framework in which communities and businesses are engaged with
and take more responsibility for their own waste, including by enabling waste to
be disposed of, and

e Helping to secure the re-use, recovery or disposal of waste without endangering
human health and without harming the environment.

85. The Government Review of Waste Policy in England 2011 seeks to move towards
a green, zero waste economy, where waste is driven up the waste hierarchy. The
waste hierarchy gives top priority to waste prevention, followed by preparing for re-
use, recycling, other types of recovery (including energy recovery) and last of all
disposal. This is reiterated in the Waste Management Plan for England (2013). The
Worcestershire Waste Core Strategy sets out a number of objectives. Objective WO3
of the Waste Core Strategy seeks to make driving waste up the waste hierarchy the
basis for waste management in Worcestershire.

86. The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy considers that as the proposed
development would involve the bulking up of various sources of waste in preparation
for transfer and subsequent recycling by specialist operators it would comply with the
objectives of the waste hierarchy.

Location of the Development

87. National Planning Policy for Waste seeks to drive waste management up the
waste hierarchy, and to secure the re-use of waste without endangering human
health or harming the environment. Section 4 identifies possible suitable sites for
waste management, this includes industrial sites, opportunities for co-location, re-use
of previously developed land, sites identified for employment uses and redundant
agricultural and forestry buildings and their curtilages. Section 5 includes criteria for
assessing the suitability of sites for new waste management facilities and Appendix B

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 13



sets out locational criteria. The Worcestershire Waste Core Strategy is broadly in
accordance with these principles and the National Planning Policy for Waste.

88. The Waste Core Strategy sets out a Geographic Hierarchy for waste
management facilities in Worcestershire. The hierarchy takes account of patterns of
current and predicted future waste arisings and resource demand, onward treatment
facilities, connections to the strategic transport network and potential for the future
development of waste management facilities. The hierarchy sets out 5 levels with the
highest level being Level 1 'Kidderminster zone, Redditch zone and Worcester zone'.

89. Policy WCS 3 of the Waste Core Strategy requires waste management facilities
that enable re-use or recycling of waste, including treatment, storage, sorting and
transfer facilities, to be permitted within all levels of the Geographic Hierarchy, where
it is demonstrated that the proposed location is at the highest appropriate level of the
Geographic Hierarchy.

90. The proposal would be located in Level 1 of the geographic hierarchy for waste
management in Worcestershire (the highest level), and therefore, complies with
Policy WCS 3 of the Waste Core Strategy.

91. Policy WCS 6 of the Worcestershire Waste Core Strategy directs waste
management development to land with compatible uses. Policy WCS 6 directs re-use
and recycling facilities, such as this, to land which includes existing or allocated
industrial land; contaminated or derelict employment land; redundant agricultural or
forestry buildings or their curtilage; and sites with current use rights for waste
management purposes as long as they are enclosed. It also directs enclosed re-use
and recycling sites to active mineral workings or landfill sites; land within or adjoining
a waste water treatment works; or co-location with producers, end users or other
complementary actives, where strongly justified. Greenfield land is stated as not
being a compatible land use.

92. The proposed development would re-use farm buildings and associated land and
therefore, would comply with Policy WCS 6 of the Waste Core Strategy, falling under
the compatible land use of ' redundant agricultural or forestry buildings or their
curtilage'.

Green Belt

93. The proposed development would be located wholly within the West Midlands
Green Belt. CPRE object to the proposal on the grounds of adverse impacts upon the
Green Belt.

94. The NPPF states that there is a presumption in favour of sustainable
development, which should be seen as a golden thread running through decision-
taking, which means approving proposals that accord with the development plan
without delay; and where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies
are out-of-date, granting planning permission unless:

e any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole,
or

e specific policies in the NPPF indicate development should be restricted.

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 14



95. In this case the proposal is wholly located within the West Midlands Green Belt;
footnote 9 to the NPPF indicates that policies related to this designation restrict
development; and therefore, by virtue of footnote 9, the presumption in favour of
sustainable development does not apply within Green Belt areas.

96. The introduction to Section 9 of the NPPF states that "the Government attaches
great importance to Green Belts. The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to
prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open, the essential characteristics
of Green Belts are their openness and their permanence. The NPPF states that
Green Belt serves five purposes:

to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas;

to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;

to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;

to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and

to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other
urban land".

97. The NPPF considers that the construction of new buildings is inappropriate
development in the Green Belt. Inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to
the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances.
However, there are a number of exceptions in paragraphs 89 and 90 of the NPPF,
which are considered to be appropriate forms of development in the Green Belt,
provided they preserve the openness of the Green Belt and do not conflict with the
purposes of including land in Green Belt. Paragraph 90 of the Framework allows the
re-use of buildings provided that the buildings are of permanent and substantial
construction.

98. The proposed development does not require any new buildings, extensions or
hardstanding and the existing yard would be used for parking. The proposed external
alterations to the buildings by cladding the walls would have no impact on openness
of the Green Belt. Unloading, handling, processing and storage of processed waste
would take place within the existing permanent buildings that are of substantial
construction. A limited amount of external storage of processed materials would take
place within existing storage bays numbers A, B and C. However, these storage
areas are currently used in association with agricultural use, such as animal bedding,
biomass woodchip and silage, and therefore, would have no greater impact on the
openness of the Green Belt. The site is well contained within palisade fencing and no
new fencing is proposed. No external storage of skips is proposed, with skips
proposed to be stored at the applicant’s existing Waste Transfer Station (Redditch
Skip Hire) located to the south of the site at Weights Farm. No floodlighting is
proposed.

99. In view of this, the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy considers that
the proposal would not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than
the existing agricultural buildings and would not conflict with the five purposes of
Green Belt. It is considered that the proposal would fall under the Green Belt
exemptions (paragraph 90: 'the re-use of buildings provided that the buildings are of
permanent and substantial construction’), and therefore, would be an appropriate
form of development in the Green Belt.

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 15



100. Under the Town and Country Planning (Consultation) (England) Direction 2009,
the County Council is required to consult the Secretary of State for Communities and
Local Government on new buildings in the Green Belt it intends to approve that would
be inappropriate development and exceed 1,000 square metres; or any other
development which, by reason of its scale or nature or location, would have a
significant impact on the openness of the Green Belt. As the proposal is considered to
be an appropriate form of development in the Green Belt, there is no need to consult
the Secretary of State in this instance.

Landscape Character and Visual Impacts

101. Public views of the application site are limited due to the oblique nature of the
views from Weights Lane, which is a public highway and bridleway (for part of its
length), the undulating topography, the location of Butlers Hill Wood about 225 metres
north-west of the proposal and the existing industrial / commercial estate at Weights
Farm to the south, all of which help to screen the proposal in the wider landscape.
However, close up views of the proposal would be available from the residential
properties of Lucerne House located approximately 40 metres south of the site.

102. No new buildings or hardstanding are proposed and the applicant has confirmed
that all waste management processing operations would take place within the
buildings and external storage would be limited to three existing storage bays.

103. The County Landscape Officer has been consulted and has raised no objections
to the proposal. The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy considers that
should planning permission be granted conditions should be imposed regarding the
materials of the building (infill panels), external lighting and height of external
stockpiles.

104. In view of the above matters, the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy
considers that subject to the imposition of appropriate conditions, the proposed
development would not have an adverse or detrimental impact upon the character
and appearance of the local area.

Residential Amenity (Noise, Dust and Odour)

105. The nearest existing residential properties to the application site are that of
Lucerne House located approximately 40 metres south of the site, and Butlers Field
Cottage situated approximately 70 metres north-west of the site.

106. The proposed hours of operation, including the operation of plant and equipment
are between 06:00 and 19:00 hours Mondays to Saturdays, inclusive, with no
operations on Sundays or Bank Holidays.

107. CPRE object to the proposal on the grounds of adverse impacts on residential
amenity, in particular noise and air quality impacts. They also state that the submitted
Noise Assessment does not consider the impact upon the residential properties being
constructed along Weights Lane (Redditch Borough Council Ref: 2012/120/0OUT and
District Ref: 2015/265/RM) or to the impact on Brockhill East Phase Two residential
development (Redditch Borough Council Ref: 2014/256/0OUT).

108. The application was accompanied by a Noise Assessment and Air Quality
Assessment. The Noise Assessment concludes that the proposal would result in a
low adverse impact with respect to the additional noise generated at Butlers Field

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 16



Cottage and to the rear of the residential properties on Birmingham Road, subject to
the following mitigation measures which includes the gap between the top of the 'new'
concrete wall and the roof being filled with trapizodial panels and no gaps within the
buildings.

109. The Air Quality Assessment concludes that the majority of the waste processing
and storage operations would be undertaken within buildings. As such, the potential
for emission of dust and odour is limited. HGVs transferring materials to and from site
would be sheeted which would control potential odour and dust emissions during the
delivery and export of wastes. Subject to the following mitigation measures which are
required by the Environmental Permit for the site, no significant impacts are predicted
at any of the identified dust and odour sensitive receptors. Mitigation measures
include: spraying of stockpiles; a dust suppression sprinkler system within the
buildings; and if a malodorous waste is discovered, it will be immediately consigned to
the skip / container for rejected waste and the EA contacted or load removed from
site immediately.

110. There is potential for emissions of Nitrogen Dioxide and Particulate Matter from
cars and HGVs associated with the proposed development. A qualitative assessment
has been undertaken by the applicant. Based on the existing background pollutant
concentrations, which are less than 50% of the Air Quality Limit Values as outlined
within The Air Quality Standards Regulations 2007 for Particulate Matter and Nitrogen
Dioxide, and the predicted number of additional car and HGV movements, potential
impacts from vehicle exhaust emissions are not predicted to be significant.

111. Whilst the Noise Assessment did not consider the impacts upon the residential
developments under construction along Weights Lane or that of Brockhill East Phase
Two, which is pending consideration, following the resolution of a satisfactory 106
Agreement. It is noted that the proposal considered the impact upon the nearest
residential properties. It is noted that Worcestershire Regulatory Services (Noise,
Dust and Odour) has been consulted and has raised no objections, subject to the
imposition of conditions requiring the development to be carried out in accordance
with the recommendations of the submitted Noise Assessment. Worcestershire
Regulatory Services also note that the Noise Assessment is satisfactory and indicates
a low impact at the nearest residential property(s). With regards to dust and odour
impacts, they note that the site would require an Environmental Permit from the
Environment Agency, which would control dust and odour emissions. Worcestershire
Regulatory Services (Air Quality and Contaminated Land) has also raised no
objections.

112. Paragraph 122 of the NPPF states that "local planning authorities should focus
on whether the development itself is an acceptable use of the land and the impact of
the use, rather than the control of processes or emissions themselves where these
are subject to approval under pollution control regimes. Local planning authorities
should assume that these regimes will operate effectively”. Paragraph Reference ID:
28-050-20141016 of the Government PPG elaborates on this matter, stating that
"there exist a number of issues which are covered by other regulatory regimes and
waste planning authorities should assume that these regimes will operate effectively.
The focus of the planning system should be on whether the development itself is an
acceptable use of the land and the impacts of those uses, rather than any control
processes, health and safety issues or emissions themselves where these are subject
to approval under other regimes. However, before granting planning permission they

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 17



will need to be satisfied that these issues can or will be adequately addressed by
taking the advice from the relevant regulatory body".

113. It is noted that the Environment Agency has raised no objections and that an
Environmental Permit would be required for the site, which would control emissions,
including noise, dust, odour and vibration. Worcestershire Regulatory Services also
raises no objections to the proposal.

114. With regard to impacts to human health, Public Health England has raised no
objections, stating that they have no significant concerns regarding risk to health of
the local population from the proposed activity, provided that the applicant takes all
appropriate measures to prevent or control pollution, in accordance with the relevant
sector technical guidance or industry best practice.

115. The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy recommends that a condition
is imposed restricting the construction hours in accordance with those outlined within
Worcestershire Regulatory Services' Code of Best Practice for Demolition and
Construction Sites, namely between the hours of 08:00 to 18:00 hours on Mondays to
Fridays inclusive, and 08:00 to 13:00 hours on Saturdays. Furthermore, it is
considered appropriate, given the proximity of the proposal to residential dwellings
and developments to limit the operating hours to the same as the constriction hours to
limit the impact of the operations on amenity grounds.

116. In view of the above matters, the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy
considers that, subject to the imposition of appropriate conditions relating to operating
hours, construction hours requiring a detailed lighting scheme and implementation of
the mitigation measures outlined in the submitted Noise Assessment, there would be
no adverse air pollution, noise or dust impacts on residential amenity or that of human
health.

Traffic and Highway Safety

117. Weights Lane is a public highway wide enough for two cars to pass each other
and the site lies approximately 430 metres from Birmingham Road (A441). Weights
Lane is not a ‘through road’ and is used only by people accessing Weights Farm
industrial / commercial estate and a small number of dwellings. The application site is
accessed via a private road about 100 metres north from its junction with Weights
Lane. This private road is wide enough for two HGVs to pass each other, with a layby
at the entrance to the proposed MRF providing further room for manoeuvring. A
weighbridge is located on Weights Lane about 250 metres west of its junction with
Birmingham Road (A441). A new weighbridge would be installed at the proposed
MRF, adjacent to the site access. Vehicles would enter and exit the application site
via the same access.

118. 25 car parking spaces are proposed of which 4 spaces would be dedicated for
disabled users. 7 spaces are proposed for HGV parking and 6 cycle spaces are
proposed.

119. Bromsgrove District Council has granted planning permission for a "mixed use
development of up to 200 dwellings, 5,000 square metres of Class B1 office
floorspace and public open space” (District Ref: 2012/120/ OUT and 2015/265/RM)),
which includes works to replace the existing T-junction between Weights Lane and
Birmingham Road (A441) with a new 28 metre diameter roundabout. The layout of

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 18



the new roundabout provides four arms — Birmingham Road forming two arms,
Weights Lane and the residential site access.

120. Paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that:

All developments that generate significant amounts of movement should be
supported by a Transport Statement or Transport Assessment. Plans and decisions
should take account of whether:

e the opportunities for sustainable transport modes have been taken up depending
on the nature and location of the site, to reduce the need for major transport
infrastructure;

e safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all people; and

e improvements can be undertaken within the transport network that cost
effectively limit the significant impacts of the development..".

121. It is noted that the NPPF goes onto state that "development should only be
prevented or refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of
development are severe".

122. Whilst the application is not supported by a standalone Traffic Assessment or
Transport Statement, it is noted that the Planning Application Planning Statement
contained a detailed assessment of traffic movements. This states that the existing
Waste Transfer Station and skip hire business (Redditch Skip Hire) generates
approximately 62 HGV movements per day combined (31 HGVs entering the site and
31 HGVs exiting the site per day). The proposed development (skip hire business and
MRF combined) would generate about 248 HGV moments per day (about 124 HGVs
entering the site and 124 HGVs exiting the site per day).

123. The County Highways Officer has raised no objections, subject to the imposition
of a condition limiting the number of HGV movements to that outlined within the
planning application; and constructing the access and parking facilities. They also
note that the proposal is unlikely to result in a severe impact on the safety or capacity
of the local highway network. Approved changes to the connection to the Birmingham
Road are in the process of being constructed (under District Refs: 2012/120/OUT and
2015/265/RM) and this would further address any possible capacity issues.

124. With regard to the recommended conditions by the County Highways Officer, the
Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy notes that the site benefits from an
existing hardstanding and no new hardstanding is proposed therefore the condition
regarding the construction specification of the hardstanding is not considered relevant
in this instance. A condition requiring the development to be carried out in accordance
with the submitted drawings is recommended. With regard to limiting the HGV
movements, it is considered that this would be best achieved through the imposition
of a condition limiting the throughput of the facility as this could be monitored and
enforced, and a condition is recommended to this effect.

125. In view of the above matters, the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy
is satisfied that the proposal would not have an unacceptable impact upon traffic and
highway safety, subject to the imposition of appropriate conditions.

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 19



Water Environment

126. Policy WCS 10 of the Worcestershire Waste Core Strategy states that proposals
will be permitted where unacceptable adverse flood risk impacts have been mitigated
to ensure safety and water quality.

127. The site is located within the River Arrow catchment and sits within 300 metres
of the main river channel. The application site falls within Flood Zone 1 which has a
low probability of flood risk. The application site is 3.3 hectares in area. The applicant
does not propose to increase the area of roofs or impermeable surfaces.

128. All existing surface water from the sites drains to a ditch which runs along the
north-western site boundary, adjacent to the Alvechurch to Redditch railway line. The
applicant does not propose to alter these arrangements.

129. The applicant states that "all treatment and storage of wastes capable of
releasing polluting run-off would be undertaken within the existing buildings which
would be bunded to prevent any escape of liquids or within former silage clamps
which benefit from sealed drainage systems preventing run-off to surface drains".

130. The foul water from messing and welfare facilities associated with Unit 59 would
be drained to an existing package Sewage Treatment Plant which serves part of the
businesses on the adjacent Weights Farm industrial / commercial estate.

131. As the application site area exceeds 1 hectare in area, a Flood Risk Assessment
was submitted in support of the planning application. The Flood Risk Assessment
concludes that "the proposed change of use would not increase the risk of flooding
arising from the site and as such there are no direct measures to mitigate flows from
the site".

132. With regard to the Sequential Test, the aim of which is to steer new development
to areas with the lowest probability of flooding. Development should not be allocated
or permitted if there are reasonably available sites appropriate for the proposed
development in areas with a lower probability of flooding. The Flood Risk Assessment
states that as the proposed development is located in Flood Zone 1, it therefore
meets the Sequential Test.

133. The proposed development is classed as 'less vulnerable', as identified by Table
2: 'Flood risk vulnerability classification' of the Government's Planning Practice
Guidance (PPG). Table 3: 'Flood risk vulnerability and flood zone ‘compatibility’ of the
PPG identified that less vulnerable uses of land are considered appropriate in this
zone.

134. Network Rail has been consulted due to the proximity to the railway line and
objects to the proposal, as surface water is proposed to be drained towards the
railway. This is not acceptable to Network Rail. Surface water draining in the direction
of the railway could increase Network Rail’s liability, including increasing the potential
for flooding, soil slippage and pollution. However, should planning permission be
granted they recommend a condition relating to surface water drainage.

135. In response to Network Rail, the applicant states that "the proposal would not
increase the impermeable surface area of the site...therefore, the proposal would
have no additional impact on the quantities of surface water generated by the existing

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 20



complex of yards and buildings...the proposal would not result in any increased risk
of flooding in comparison to the existing agricultural use of land, including adjacent
land owned by Network Rail".

136. The Lead Local Flood Authority has been consulted and has deferred to the
opinion of North Worcestershire Water Management for all detailed matters relating to
surface water drainage. North Worcestershire Water Management has no objections,
subject to the imposition of a condition requiring a scheme for surface water drainage,
which shall include measures to manage and treat any surface water pollution from
the site.

137. With respect to the Network Rail's comments, North Worcestershire Water
Management acknowledges their concerns, however, from the details that has been
provided they do not consider that the proposals would lead to any changes on the
site that would increase the level of runoff from the site; and therefore, it is the view
that of North Worcestershire Water Management that the impact to the railway would
remain fairly static.

138. The Environment Agency has also raised no objections to the proposal. Severn
Trent Water has also raised no objections to the proposal, subject to a condition
requiring a scheme for the disposal of foul and surface water.

139. Based on the advice of North Worcestershire Water Management, the Head of
Strategic Infrastructure and Economy considers that subject to the imposition of an
appropriate condition, there would be no adverse effects on the water environment
and considers that the planning application accords with Policy WCS 10 of the
Worcestershire Waste Core Strategy.

Ecology and Biodiversity

140. Paragraph 9 of the NPPF states that "pursuing sustainable development
involves seeking positive improvements in the quality of the built, natural and historic
environment, as well as in people’s quality of life", which includes "moving from a net
loss of biodiversity to achieving net gains for nature”. This is reiterated within Section
11 of the NPPF, paragraph 109 states that "the planning system should contribute to
and enhance the natural and local environment", and this includes "minimising
impacts on biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity where possible,
contributing to the Government’s commitment to halt the overall decline in
biodiversity, including by establishing coherent ecological networks that are more
resilient to current and future pressures"”.

141. Paragraph 118 of the NPPF states that "when determining planning applications,
local planning authorities should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity by
applying the following principles”, this includes "if significant harm resulting from a
development cannot be avoided (through locating on an alternative site with less
harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for, then
planning permission should be refused".

142. There are only two statutory wildlife designated sites within 2 kilometre of the
proposal - Hewell Park Lake SSSI and Dagnell End Meadow SSSI, which are located
approximately 2 kilometres west and 1.7 kilometres south-east of the proposal,
respectively. There are a number of non-statutory wildlife designated sites within 1
kilometre of the proposal, notably Butler's Hill Wood LWS and Shortwood Rough

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 21



Grounds LWS are located about 225 metres and 1 kilometre north-west of the
application site, respectively. River Arrow LWS is located about 295 metres east of
the proposal. Brockhill Wood LWS is located approximately 915 metres south-west of
the proposed development.

143. A Preliminary Bat Roost and Nesting Bird Assessment was undertaken of six
agricultural buildings at the site. The buildings were found to be used by roosting
birds, and it was also considered possible that they are also used by nesting birds.
The buildings inspected had negligible suitability for bats, and no evidence of bat
presence was found. Precautionary mitigations measures are recommended by the
Assessment. This includes: works should be undertaken outside the bird breeding
season; and in the unlikely event that a bat is discovered during conversion works, all
work must stop immediately and a licensed ecologist and Natural England consulted.

144. Natural England and Worcestershire Wildlife Trust have been consulted due to
the proximity of the proposal to SSSI's and LWS's, respectively. Natural England is
satisfied that subject to the proposal being carried out in accordance with the
submitted application it would not damage or destroy the interest features for which
the sites have been notified. Worcestershire Wildlife Trust also has no objections,
subject to the imposition of appropriate conditions and defers to the opinion of the
County Ecologist for all on site detailed matters relating to biodiversity. The County
Ecologist also has no objections, subject to the imposition of an appropriate condition
as outlined in the submitted Preliminary Bat Roost and Nesting Bird Assessment.

145. In view of the above matters, the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy
considers that subject to the imposition of appropriate conditions as recommended by
the County Ecologist, the proposal would not have an unacceptable adverse impact
on ecology and biodiversity at the site or on the surrounding area.

Other Matters

Economic Impact

146. The NPPF states that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the
achievement of sustainable development through the three dimensions of economic,
social and environmental. In particular the NPPF sees the economic role of planning
as "contributing to building a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by
ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right places and at the
right time to support growth and innovation; and by identifying and coordinating the
development requirements, including provision of infrastructure”.

147. In addition, the NPPF at Paragraph 19 states that the "Government is committed
to ensuring that the planning system does everything it can to support economic
growth, and therefore, significant weight should be placed on the need to support
economic growth through the planning system" and paragraph 28 states that
"planning policies should support economic growth in rural areas in order to create
jobs and prosperity by taking a positive approach to sustainable new development".

148. The applicant currently employs a total of 20 full-time employees, should this
planning application be granted a further 30 employees (full-time equivalent) would be
required. By securing existing jobs and creating new opportunities, the proposal
would support communities and thereby provide a social benefit. Furthermore, by
providing jobs and a service to other businesses, it would contribute to the local

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 22



economy. In so far as it provides these social and economic benefits, the proposal
would accord with the aims of the NPPF.

Heritage Impacts

149. A number of heritage assets are located within the wider context of the
application site, as outlined in paragraph 16, although no designated heritage assets
are identified within the immediate site context.

150. The County Archaeologist has no objections, stating that they do not consider
that the proposal would affect any heritage assets of archaeological or built historic
environment interest.

151. The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy considers that based on the
advice of the County Archaeologist, the distance from designated heritage assets, the
screening offered by the topography and woodland that the proposed development
would have no adverse effects on heritage assets.

Integrity of the railway line

152. The application site would be located in close proximity to the Alvechurch to
Redditch railway line. Network Rail has been consulted and objects to the proposal,
as surface water is proposed to be drained towards the railway (refer to the "Water
Environment' section of this report). However, should planning permission be granted
they recommend the imposition of conditions requesting a method statement should
vibro-compaction / displacement piling plant be used in the construction of the
proposal, full details of excavations and earthworks to be carried out near the railway
line; and any scaffold must not over-sail the railway line. Conditions are
recommended to this effect. They also encourage the installation of suitable high
kerbs or crash barriers on the site; and the applicant is also advised to contact
Network Rail directly to discuss any consents required from Network Rail.

153. In response to Network Rail, the applicant has confirmed that no new buildings
would be constructed; no additional hardstanding would be laid; no excavations or
earthworks would take place adjacent to the railway boundary; there would be no
physical encroachment onto Network Rail land; no vehicles would be parked adjacent
to the railway boundary; no waste would be stored or handled adjacent to the railway
boundary. The applicant also confirms that the railway boundary fence is a robust 1.8
metre tall metal palisade fence, and therefore, is not proposing to install crash
barriers or high kerbs.

154. The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy considers that there would be
no adverse impact on the safe operation of the railway, subject to the imposition of
appropriate conditions.

Infrastructure Assets

155. National Grid's high pressure gas pipeline runs along the north-eastern boundary
of the application site and Health and Safety Executive's (HSE's) Major Accident
Hazard Pipeline zone that buffers this pipeline is located within the application site.
Western Power Destruction's overhead powerline and underground cable (Surf
Telecom apparatus) are located approximately 115 metres and 30 metres west of the
proposed development, respectively.

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 23



156. National Grid has been consulted and has requested that the applicant contacts
them prior to carrying out any works on site; and that the County Planning Authority
consults HSE. The HSE Planning Advice Web App raises no objections to the
proposal on safety grounds. Western Power Distribution has also been consulted and
has raised no objections to the proposal. Fisher German commented on behalf of
Petroleum Company Limited and has no objections to the proposal.

157. In view of this, the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy considers that
the proposed development would not unduly impact upon the infrastructure assets
within and adjacent to the site.

Sustainable Development

158. At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development,
which should be seen as a golden thread running through both plan-making and
decision-taking. Paragraphs 18 to 219 of the NPPF, taken as a whole, constitute the
Government's view of what sustainable development in England means in practice for
the planning system.

159. Policy WCS 11: 'Sustainable design and operation of facilities' of the Waste Core
Strategy states that "waste management facilities will be permitted where it is
demonstrated that the design of buildings, layout, landscaping and operation of the
facility, and any restoration proposals take account of sustainable development
practices and climate change mitigation and resilience through" a number of
measures, this includes:

e The re-use of existing buildings where appropriate

e Reducing water demand where possible and considering water efficiency in the
design and operation of all new built development

e Reducing energy demand where possible and considering energy efficiency in
the design and operation of all new built development, and

e All new built development or significant alterations to buildings which create a
gross building footprint of 1,000 square metres or more gaining at least 10% of
energy supply annually from on-site renewable or low carbon sources. Where it is
demonstrated that this is not practicable, this should be achieved through off-site
solutions.

160. The proposal would re-use the existing agricultural buildings at the site, and the
proposal does not require any new buildings, extensions or hardstanding to be
constructed. The applicant has confirmed that as the site develops means to harvest
and utilise rainwater within the site will be explored. The proposed change of use
would result in a cumulative floor area of approximately 7,809 square metres, with 3
of the 6 buildings measuring over 1,000 square metres in floorspace. The proposal
does not include on-site renewable or low carbon energy generating facilities and the
applicant has not demonstrated that this is not practicable. Therefore, in order to
comply with Policy WCS 11 of the Waste Core Strategy a condition is recommended
requiring the installation of renewable or low carbon energy generating facilities. The
applicant has confirmed that "as the MRF buildings would be unheated it is
anticipated the 10% would be delivered by solar panels on the roof of the proposed
office (unit 59)".

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 24



161. In view of this, and the preceding sections of this report, the Head of Strategic
Infrastructure and Economy, therefore, considers that subject to the imposition of a
condition requiring the consideration of renewable or low carbon energy generating
facilities to be incorporated as part of the development, that the proposal is a
sustainable development, in accordance with the NPPF in relation to its presumption
in favour of sustainable development.

Conclusion

162. The applicant is seeking planning permission for a proposed change of use of
agricultural buildings and associated land to MRF at Weights Farm, Weights Lane,
Redditch.

163. The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy considers that as the
proposed development would involve the bulking up of various sources of waste in
preparation for transfer and subsequent recycling by specialist operators it would
comply with the objectives of the waste hierarchy.

164. Policy WCS 3 of the Waste Core Strategy requires waste management facilities
that enable re-use or recycling of waste, including treatment, storage, sorting and
transfer facilities, to be permitted within all levels of the Geographic Hierarchy, where
it is demonstrated that the proposed location is at the highest appropriate level of the
Geographic Hierarchy. The proposal would be located in Level 1 of the geographic
hierarchy for waste management in Worcestershire (the highest level), and therefore,
complies with Policy WCS 3 of the Waste Core Strategy.

165. The proposed development would re-use farm buildings and associated land
and therefore, would comply with Policy WCS 6 of the Waste Core Strategy, relating
to compatible land uses.

166. The proposed development would be located wholly within the West Midlands
Green Belt. The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy considers that the
proposal would not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the
existing agricultural buildings and would not conflict with the five purposes of Green
Belt. It is considered that the proposal would fall under the Green Belt exemptions
(paragraph 90: 'the re-use of buildings provided that the buildings are of permanent
and substantial construction’), and therefore, would be an appropriate form of
development in the Green Belt.

167. Based on the advice of the County Landscape Officer, it is considered that the
proposed development would not have an adverse or detrimental impact upon the
character and appearance of the local area, subject to the imposition of appropriate
conditions.

168. The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy considers that, subject to the
imposition of appropriate conditions relating to operating hours, construction hours,
requiring a detailed lighting scheme and implementation of the mitigation measures
outlined in the submitted Noise Assessment, there would be no adverse air pollution,
noise or dust impacts on residential amenity or that of human health.

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 25



169. The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy is satisfied that the proposal
would not have an unacceptable impact upon traffic and highway safety, subject to the
imposition of appropriate conditions.

170. Based on the advice of North Worcestershire Water Management and Severn
Trent Water Limited it is considered that subject to the imposition of an appropriate
condition, there would be no adverse effects on the water environment, in accordance
with Policy WCS 10 of the Worcestershire Waste Core Strategy.

171. The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy considers that, subject to the
imposition of appropriate conditions as recommended by the County Ecologist, the
proposal would not have an unacceptable adverse impact on ecology and biodiversity
at the site or on the surrounding area.

172. It is noted that the NPPF affords significant weight to economic growth. By
securing existing jobs and creating new opportunities, the proposal would support
communities and thereby provide a social benefit. Furthermore, by providing jobs and
a service to other businesses, it would contribute to the local economy. In so far as it
provides these social and economic benefits, it is considered that the proposal would
accord with the aims of the NPPF.

173. Taking into account the provisions of the Development Plan and in particular
Policies WCS 1, WCS 2, WCS 3, WCS 6, WCS 8, WCS 9, WCS 10, WCS 11, WCS
12, WCS 13, WCS 14, and WCS 15 of the adopted Worcestershire Waste Core
Strategy, Policies DS1, DS2, DS13, C4, C9, C10, C17, C27, C31, C32, E9, TR1,
TR2, TR11, ES1, ES4, ES14 and ES14A of the adopted Bromsgrove District Local
Plan, and Policies BDP1, BDP4, RCBD1, BDP13, BDP15, BDP16, BDP19, BDP21,
BDP22 and BDP23 of the Draft Bromsgrove District Local Plan, it is considered the
proposal would not cause demonstrable harm to the interests intended to be
protected by these policies or highway safety.

Recommendation

174. The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy recommends that
planning permission be granted for the proposed change of use of agricultural
buildings and associated land to Material Reclamation Facility (MRF) at Weights
Farm, Weights Lane, Redditch, Worcestershire, subject to the following
conditions:

Commencement
a) The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years
beginning with the date of this permission;

Approved Plans

b) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with
the details shown on submitted Drawings Numbered 7857-100 Rev A, 7857-
200, 3475/1940/03 Rev B, 3475/1940/04 Rev A, 3475/1940/05, 3475/1940/06,
3475/1940/07, 3475/1940/08, 3475/1940/09, 3475/1940/10, 3475/1940/11,
3475/1940/12, 3475/1940/13, 3475/1940/14 and 3475/1940/15, except where
otherwise stipulated by conditions attached to this permission;

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 26



Throughput
c) The annual throughput of materials handled at the site shall be limited to a

maximum of 100,000 tonnes per annum and records shall be kept and made
available to the County Planning Authority on written request for the
duration of the operations on the site;

Hours of Working

d) Construction works shall only be carried out on the site between 08:00 to
18:00 hours on Mondays to Fridays inclusive, and 08:00 to 13:00 hours on
Saturdays, with no construction work on Sundays or Bank or Public
Holidays;

e) Excluding the ancillary office on the first floor of unit 59, operations within
the site hereby approved shall only take place between the hours of 08:00
hours and 18:00 hours Mondays to Fridays inclusive, and 08:00 to 13:00
hours on Saturdays, with operations on Sundays or Bank or Public
Holidays;

Noise
f) All waste processing (including crushing, shredding and screening) shall
take place within the buildings hereby approved;

g) All vehicles, plant and machinery operated within the site shall be
maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's specifications at all
times, and shall be fitted with and use fully operational silencers;

h) The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with
Section 5.8 ' Conclusions' of the Noise Chapter of the submitted 'Weights
Farm Environmental Assessment, dated 25 August 2016;

Storage Heights

i) The height of any external stockpiles of material shall not exceed 4 metres
and a scheme for the setting up of a permanent marker that allows
operatives and officers from the County Planning Authority a means of
visually checking this height shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by
the County Planning Authority prior to the operation of the development
hereby approved. The agreed height marker shall be erected and
maintained on site for the duration of the development hereby approved,;

Lighting

j) Details of any lighting to be installed at the site shall be submitted to the
County Planning Authority for approval in writing prior to being erected.
These details shall include:

i.  Height of the lighting posts;
ii.  Intensity of the lights;
iii.  Colour;
iv.  Spread of light (in metres);
v. Any measure proposed to minimise the impact of the lighting or
disturbance through glare; and
vi. Times when the lighting would be illuminated,;

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 27



Thereafter, the development shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details;

Pollution

k) Any facilities for the storage of oils, fuels or chemicals shall be sited on
impervious bases and surrounded by impervious bund walls. The volume
of the bunded compound shall be at least equivalent to the capacity of the
tank plus 10%. If there is multiple tankage, the compound shall be at least
equivalent to the capacity of the largest tank, vessel or the combined
capacity of interconnected tanks or vessels plus 10%. All filling points,
associated pipework, vents, gauges and site glasses must be located
within the bund or have separate secondary containment. The drainage
system of the bund shall be sealed with no discharge to any watercourse,
land or underground strata. Associated pipework shall be located above
ground and protected from accidental damage. All filling points and
tank/vessels, overflow pipe outlets shall be detailed to discharge
downwards into the bund;

[) No materials shall be burnt on the site;

Ecology
m) The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with

Section 4.2 'Recommendations’ of the submitted 'Preliminary Bat Roost and
Nesting Bird Assessment’, dated 19 July 2016;

Materials

n) Notwithstanding any indication of the materials, which may have been
given in the application, no development shall take place until a schedule
and/or samples of the materials and finishes for the vehicle maintenance
workshop building has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
County Planning Authority. Thereafter the development shall be carried out
in accordance with the approved details;

0) Prior to the use of the development hereby approved, details of renewable
or low carbon energy generating facilities to be incorporated as part of the
approved development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
County Planning Authority. The details shall demonstrate that at least 10%
of the predicted energy requirements of the development will be met
through the use of renewable/low carbon energy generating facilities. The
approved facilities shall be provided prior to the occupation of the
development hereby approved;

Drainage
p) No works or development shall take place until a scheme for foul and

surface water drainage has been submitted to, and approved in writing by
the County Planning Authority. This should include proposed measures to
manage the level of pollution in the sites surface water runoff and provided
an appropriate level of treatment. The approved scheme shall be completed
prior to the first use of the development hereby approved;

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 28



Q)

r

s)

Protection of Railway Lines

Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, should any
excavations, earthworks or temporary site compounds be proposed
adjacent to the railway line, or should vibro-compaction or displacement
piling plant be used in the construction of the development hereby
approved, a Method Statement detailing how the structural integrity of the
railway line, embankment and retaining walls shall be maintained, shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority in
consultation with Network Rail. Thereafter, the development shall be
carried out in accordance with the approved details;

Any scaffold which is to be constructed adjacent to the railway must be
erected in such a manner that at no time will any poles or cranes over-sail
or fall onto the railway. All plant and scaffolding must be positioned that in
the event of a failure it will not fall onto Network Rail's land; and

Planning Permission

A copy of this decision notice, together with all approved plans and
documents required under the conditions of this permission shall be
maintained at the site office at all times throughout the period of the
development and shall be made known to any person(s) given
responsibility for management or control of activities/operations on the
site.

Contact Points

County Council Contact Points

County Council: 01905 763763
Worcestershire Hub: 01905 765765
Email: worcestershirehub@worcestershire.gov.uk

Specific Contact Points for this report

Case Officer: Steven Aldridge, Principal Planner:
Tel: 01905 843510
Email: saldridge@worcestershire.gov.uk

Mark Bishop, Development Control Manager:
Tel: 01905 844463

Email:

mbishop@worcestershire.gov.uk

Background Papers

In the opinion of the proper officer (in this case the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and
Economy) the following are the background papers relating to the subject matter of this

report:

The application, plans and consultation replies in file reference 16/000021/CM.

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016

Page 29


mailto:worcestershirehub@worcestershire.gov.uk
mailto:saldridge@worcestershire.gov.uk
mailto:mbishop@worcestershire.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank



Legend
Local Wildlife Sites

Greenbelt

=

S & AT

Farm

1< abe

Abbay

y \snabwn

Cemstary | J:l

B

/Ti-'? L«vau’sHl,L —‘:—ﬁ._.
# =7 @
g '
WS 200,

> o % @aﬂﬁ?mg%
et o e SR

© Crown copyright and 250 500 metres

database rights 2016

~ Bordesley Abbey

1=

Fish Ponds  ©

pall

(ramaing of)
isterrian fourded 1135

\.isllor

@ worcestersh ire

Ordnance Survey 100024230.

Indicative Scale: 1:10,000 Ref: 16/000021/CM

Date Printed:9/11/2016

Proposed change of use of agricultural buildings and associated land to Material Reclamation Facility
(MRF) at Weights Farm, Weights Lane, Redditch, Worcestershire

<~ county council

Countryside Service
Worcester Woods Country Park
Wildwood Drive
Worcester
WR5 2LG




This page is intentionally left blank



KEY:
|:| Sealed buildings
—> — Existing surface water drainage routes
Fifecllc:mac\feehsiilegsatc?nlglpc’lclci)szii)esfsor —> —— Vehicle flow routes (and direction)
Units 65 & 66
2.5 metre palisade security fencing (existing fence)
AN NOTES:
Existing 450mm
/ ipe outlet to ditch . . . .
PP 1. Layout provided using the Midland Surveys topographical
data for the base plan.
2. Layout may be subject to change following Environment
Agency assessment under the Environmental Permitting
Butlers Field \\ regime.
Cottage N . . .
A 3. Reference should be made to accompanying application
/ BAY A documents for detailed information.
= Existing storage bay 4. Existing pipe outlets into open ditch on adjacent Network
/ (Grade A timber) Rail land not surveyed and are shown for indication.
A
BAY B
Existing storage bay
(Grade B timber)
//,/
7 Existing 450mm
/ pipe outlet to ditch
,/I Existing cattle shed A
g (to be retained as such) 4/
/ /‘
A 3 = Cattle handling shed
— - to be retained as such
/ /7 ™ ( )
// Mobile wood \_1 2 ONIT 65 Existing open ditch
7 shredding/ \ \
/ processing
9 Ve plant =2
T Y / Q;%\
\ ‘\‘\ \\ (/’/ A N\ (‘)&
\\\ ( VAN 3
SRR N 3
\\\ “‘\ ‘\\ \“\ ,?
WY\ 3
\\\ \ \ Existing 450mm
AR \ UNIT 63 pipe outlet to ditch
.
W \ Restricted access route
\ iy 3 (loading plant only)
N\ \
WY ““.
A
Wy
BAY C NI
Existing storage bay \\\ A
(Tree clippings / topsoil) \
\\ ‘\“\ \\‘\ /\
\\ \‘\ ‘\\\
WA\ Z
\\ \\\ “\‘ 7\ /
el /
AW
NN

Lucerne House
(agricultural
workers dwelling)

Water
tank

Retaining concrete panel
wall to be extended

N AN
NS

“ Restri
NS

cted access route
(loading plant only)

~

BAY D

Proposed storage bay
(Brick/rubble/soil))

Staff
parking

Feed hopper
/\\

~~_

£

\

Waste
reception
area

Lights
cage

Existing 450mm
pipe outlet to ditch

)
/
/
/
Incoming /
/
plasterboard S/
/
bay
/
/
/
\ ,/
Sealed /
Sump /!
60,000 /
litres /
I/,
/
S Feed hopper
>
///
/
Ve Shredder
///
/
//
//
; Flip—flow screen
/
/
/
/
/
/
/| Sumps </
20,000
litres
each
Feed hopper

Former silage
clamp to be used
for tyre shredding/

reprocessing

Ancillary
workshop/store

2
0
% A Drainage amended 08/11/16
o - | Initial drawing 12/08/16
&,
@% Rev Description Date
Oaktree Envivonmental Ltd
Waste Management and
UNIT 59 Environmental Consultants
. Unit 5, Oasis Park, Road One
’ 2—storey offices| Winsford Industrial Estate
Winsford, Cheshire CW7 3RY
Y
& A Tel: 01606 558833  Fax: 01606 861182
RN E-mail: sales@oaktree-environmental.co.uk
/ C§ AN, New suspended
. /§ Y walkway from car park
~ C Vi to 1%t floor offices Title:
N 7 PROPOSED LAYOUT
Staff isitor [\ [ “ Y Drawing No:
pa{kir\::gl O\ ™ 3475/1940/04
) \ Client:
Mr Adam Wood
. N Site:
S Weights Farm, Weights Lane, Redditch, Worcestershire
\\ Date: Printed At: Scale:
. 8 November 2016 Al 1:500
:) Revision: Drawn By: Checked:
Scale Bar (1:500) // A RS -
0m - 25 m 56 m Job No: Client No:
3475 1940
D
Fagtoo



AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
PICKING LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
LIGHT SKIPS BAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
HEAVY SKIPS BAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
Waste reception area

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
Lights cage

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
Feed hopper

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
TROMMEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
Separated recyclable waste storage (in skips)

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
TROMMEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
RDF bay

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
Clean fines bay

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
Incoming plasterboard bay

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
Feed hopper

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
Shredder

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
Flip-flow screen

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
Paper bay

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
<10mm bay

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
>10mm bay

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
Plastic bale storage area

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
Paper/card bale storage area

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
Feed hopper

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
Baler

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
OFFICE

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
Flip-flow screen

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
Feed hopper

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
PICKING LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
DERV tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
BAY A Existing storage bay (Grade A timber)

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
BAY B Existing storage bay (Grade B timber)

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
Cattle handling shed (to be retained as such)

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
Ancillary workshop/store

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
2-storey offices

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
New suspended walkway from car park to 1  floor officesst floor offices

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
Staff / visitor parking

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
Site access

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
Staff parking

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
Weighbridge

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
Existing cattle shed (to be retained as such)

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
Former silage clamp to be used for tyre shredding/ reprocessing

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
Water tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
General waste storage 

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
Mobile wood shredding/ processing plant

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
HGV parking

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
Retaining concrete panel wall to be extended

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
UNIT 59

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
UNIT 61

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
Restricted access route (loading plant only)

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
Restricted access route (loading plant only)

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
UNIT 62

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
BAY C Existing storage bay (Tree clippings / topsoil)

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
BAY D Proposed storage bay (Brick/rubble/soil))

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
BAY E

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
BAY F

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
UNIT 63

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
UNIT 64

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
Sealed Sump 60,000 litres

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
Sumps 20,000 litres each

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
Field access gate (palisade) for farm vehicles only to access Units 65 & 66

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
UNIT 66

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
UNIT 65

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
Lucerne House (agricultural workers dwelling)

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
DIRECTION OF FLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
UNIT 60

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
Existing open ditch 

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
Existing 450mm pipe outlet to ditch

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
Existing 450mm pipe outlet to ditch

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
Existing 450mm pipe outlet to ditch

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
Existing 450mm pipe outlet to ditch

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
TO EXISTING CULVERT





= worcestershire
</'countycouncil AGENDA ITEM 6

PLANNING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE
6 DECEMBER 2016

PROPOSED CONSTRUCTION OF A SINGLE STOREY
BUILDING TO FORM AN EARLY YEARS CABIN AND
FOREST SCHOOL BOOT ROOM AT BLACKWELL FIRST
SCHOOL, ST CATHERINE'S ROAD, BLACKWELL

Applicant
Worcestershire County Council

Local Member
Mr C B Taylor

Purpose of Report

1. To consider an application under Regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning
Regulations 1992 for the construction of a single storey building to form an Early
Years cabin and Forest School boot room at Blackwell First School, St Catherine's
Road, Blackwell.

Background

2. The applicant states that there is a shortage of nursery places in Worcestershire.
There is also only one part time nursery in the local area, which does not open on a
Wednesday and is, therefore, unsuitable for working parents.

3. This application is for a single storey nursery building that would address this
shortage.

4. The building would also provide an area for children to put on coats and boots
before using the Forest School site.

5. Interms of the site's planning history, Members of the Planning and Regulatory
Committee granted planning permission for the construction of a 3 classroom
extension, external timber store, hard play space, car parking area and relocation of
the existing temporary classrooms at Blackwell First School at their meeting on 19"
March 2015 (Minute no. 909 refers). The school was also extended in 2009, 2004 and
1994. The original school building was constructed in 1875.

The Proposal
6. Worcestershire County Council is seeking permission for the construction of a

single storey building to form an Early Years cabin and Forest School boot room at
Blackwell First School, St Catherine's Road, Blackwell.

Page 35



7. The applicant states that the building would provide nursery places for roughly 8-
16 additional children and that approximately 2 additional members of staff would be
employed. The applicant states that the school currently has 135 children and
employs 24 members of staff.

8. The building would be located in the south eastern corner of the school site within
the Forest School area adjacent to the play area. This would involve the removal of 1
low level willow tree currently located on the application site.

9. The building would measure approximately 11.8 metres in length by 6.2 metres in
width by 4 metres in height (at the apex of the pitched roof). The building would
comprise a teaching space, small kitchen area, two internal toilets, an external toilet
and a boot room. Externally, there would a covered timber decked area to provide
shelter and an outdoor teaching area. The applicant states that the building would be
designed to current building regulation standards in terms of thermal insulation,
heating requirements and energy efficiency using mostly sustainable materials.

10. The applicant states that the building's external materials would allow it to blend
in to the landscape of trees, bushes and hedges. The materials would comprise the
following:

Doors: Stained softwood

Roof: Timber shingles

Walls: Western red cedar cladding
Windows: Stained softwood
Rainwater goods: Black PVC.

11. In terms of drainage, surface water drainage would be connected to the existing
surface water drain associated with the three-classroom extension constructed
following the grant of planning permission in May 2015. The applicant states that the
ground conditions would not be suitable for soakaways.

12. Foul drainage would be connected to the existing pumping chamber which was
retained following the removal of a double mobile classroom

13. The applicant states that the nursery's drop off and collection times would be
staggered to avoid those of the main school.

14. In terms of construction, the applicant states that the site is limited regarding
access arrangements. In view of this, they state that they anticipate the building to be
constructed from pre-fabricated panels to minimise the timescale and impact usually
caused by traditional construction techniques. Furthermore, the applicant states that
they would aim to minimise disruption to the school and neighbours.

The Site
15. Blackwell First School is located within a residential area in the village of
Blackwell, which is situated roughly 3.3 kilometres north east of Bromsgrove. The

original school building was constructed in 1875.

16. The school site measures approximately 2.93 hectares.

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 36



17. The site is accessed immediately off the U21405 (St Catherine's Road).

18. The original school building is constructed from red brick walls with pitched clay
tiled roofs. The recently constructed 3 classroom extension block is constructed of red
facing brickwork with a clay tiled pitched roof to match the original school, whilst also
incorporating flat and canopy roof elements.

19. The school site is bounded by residential properties on all sides. The nearest
residential property is no. 10a The Bay Trees, which is located approximately 5
metres to the east of the application site. The school's playing field is located
approximately 45 metres north west of the main school site adjacent to St Catherine's
Road.

20. The specific site of the proposed building is located in the south eastern corner of
the school grounds directly opposite the recently constructed 3 classroom extension.
This area is currently occupied by a small area of grassland and a timber storage
shed adjacent to the Forest School area. A bark and timber play area is located
between the small area of grassland and the 3 classroom extension. A number of
mature trees are in very close proximity to the application site.

21. The specific site area described in paragraph 20 is accessed by a narrow path
running on an east-west axis from the school's entrance on St Catherine's Road. This
path is bounded by a timber fence.

22. The application site falls within Flood Zone 1 (a low risk zone).
Summary of Issues

23. The main issues in the determination of this application:-
Need for the nursery building
Location of the development
Residential Amenity

Traffic and Highways Safety
Other Matters.

Planning Policy

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
24. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published and came into
effect on 27 March 2012. The NPPF sets out the Government's planning policies for
England and how these are expected to be applied. It constitutes guidance for local
planning authorities and decision takers and is a material planning consideration in
determining planning applications. Annex 3 of the NPPF lists the documents revoked
and replaced by the NPPF. At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of
sustainable development, which should be seen as a golden thread running through
plan-making and decision-taking.

25. Sustainable Development is defined by five principles set out in the UK
Sustainable Development Strategy:

e "living within the planet's environmental limits;

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 37



ensuring a strong, healthy and just society;
achieving a sustainable economy;
promoting good governance; and
using sound science responsibly”.

26. The Government believes that sustainable development can play three critical
roles in England:

e an economic role, contributing to a strong, responsive, competitive economy

e asocial role, supporting vibrant and healthy communities and

e an environmental role, protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic
environment.

27. The following guidance contained in the NPPF, is considered to be of specific
relevance to the determination of this planning application:-

Section 4: Promoting sustainable transport

Section 7: Requiring good design

Section 8: Promoting healthy communities

Section 10: Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal
change

Section 11: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

The Development Plan
28. The Development Plan is the strategic framework that guides land use planning
for the area. In this respect the current Development Plan consists of the Adopted
Bromsgrove District Local Plan.

29. Planning applications should be determined in accordance with the provisions of
the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF
is a material consideration in planning decisions.

Adopted Bromsgrove District Local Plan

Policy DS3 Main locations for growth

Policy DS4 Other Locations for Growth

Policy DS13 Sustainable Development

Policy S19 Incompatible Land Uses

Policy S28 New And Enhanced Community Facilities
Policy S29 Access For The Disabled

Policy S31 Development At Educational Establishments
Policy C11 Statutorily Protected Species and Habitats
Policy C17 Retention Of Existing Trees

Policy TR1 The Road Hierarchy

Policy TR11 Access And Off-Street Parking

Policy TR13 Alternative Modes Of Transport

Policy RAT4 Retention Of Open Space

Policy ES2 Restrictions On Development Where Risk Of Flooding

Draft Bromsgrove District Plan 2011-2031
30. The Bromsgrove District Plan will outline the strategic planning policy framework
for guiding development in Bromsgrove District up to 2030. It will contain a long-term
vision and strategic objectives, a development strategy, key policies, strategic site

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 38



allocations and a monitoring and implementation statement. The Plan will also include
a copy of the Redditch Cross Boundary Development Policy (Policy RCBD1), which
appears in the Draft Borough of Redditch Local Plan No.4.

31. On 12 March 2014 Bromsgrove District Council submitted the Draft Bromsgrove
District Plan to the Secretary of State for independent examination. The Secretary of
State has appointed an independent Inspector (Mr Michael J Hetherington) to
undertake an independent examination into the soundness of the Bromsgrove District
Plan. The Bromsgrove District Plan and the Borough of Redditch Local Plan No.4
examinations are being held concurrently and have included several joint hearing
sessions as well as separate hearing sessions relating to each Local Plan. Hearing
sessions commenced in June 2014 and the Inspector published his Interim
conclusions on 17 July 2014 in respect of the Duty to Co-operate, the objective
assessment of housing needs and consideration of additional housing needs arising
from the West Midlands conurbation. On 1 September 2014 Bromsgrove District
Council submitted their response to Inspector's Interim Conclusions relating to the
home requirement figure on which the Bromsgrove District Plan is based. Further
hearings were held in December 2014 and June 2015. In July 2015, the Inspector
submitted a Post Hearing Note to the Councils stating that he had concerns with the
methodology and sustainability appraisal and detailed representations in respect of
the cross-boundary sites identified in the Bromsgrove District Plan. Subsequently, the
Councils submitted a joint response and the Inspector agreed to them carrying out
additional work to address his outstanding concerns. In September 2015, Redditch
and Bromsgrove Councils submitted their proposed timetable and work programme to
the inspector which proposes final submission of evidence in January 2017. On the
21 September 2015, the Inspector invited the Councils to submit a revised
programme with the aim of concluding both examinations within a shorter timescale
and on 22 October 2015 the Councils wrote to the Inspector with a revised timetable
seeking to submit further evidence regarding the rational for the selection of proposed
site allocations by the end of December 2015. The council submitted the evidence by
4 January 2016. On 10 March 2016, the Inspector announced that resumed hearings
would be held to consider this additional evidence and the representations made in
respect of those documents. On 15 April 2016 the council was informed by the
Inspector that the hearing sessions were now closed and that the Inspector was
preparing his report. On 27 July 2016 the Inspector published a list of proposed Main
Modifications to the submitted plan which he considers are required to make the plan
sound. The Inspector’s proposed Main Modifications were published for an eight
week consultation from 27 July to 21 September 2016. The Examination formally
remains open until the Inspector issues his binding report and it is possible that
further hearings could be held if the Inspector chooses to do so.

32. In the circumstances the Bromsgrove District Plan cannot yet be declared sound
and cannot be adopted. It is not yet, therefore, part of the development plan.
However, having regard to the advice in the NPPF, Annex 1, it is the view of the Head
of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy, that whilst full weight cannot be attached to
the Bromsgrove District Plan, significant weight should be attached to the
Bromsgrove District Plan in the determination of this application. The draft
Bromsgrove District Plan policies that are relevant to the proposal are listed below:

Policy BDP1 Sustainable Development Principles
Policy BDP2 Settlement Hierarchy
Policy BDP12 Sustainable Communities

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 39



Policy BDP16 Sustainable Transport
Policy BDP19 High Quality Design
Policy BDP21 Natural Environment
Policy BDP22 Climate Change
Policy BDP23 Water Management

Consultations
33. County Councillor Kit Taylor has no comments.

34. Bromsgrove District Council have no objections. They also commented that
the residential amenity of no. 10a St Catherine's Coppice should be considered.

35. Lickey and Blackwell Parish Council have no objections and welcome the
facility.

36. The County Ecologist has no objections, subject to conditions related to
protecting nesting birds, ensuring the adequate protection of trees and biodiversity
enhancement through the provision of bird and bat boxes.

37. The County Highways Officer has no objections, subject to a condition
requiring the installation of cycle parking.

38. The County Landscape Officer has no objections and is satisfied that the
proposal would not impose an unacceptable negative impact on the landscape and
setting of the school.

39. Hereford and Worcester Fire and Rescue Service have no objections.

40. The Lead Local Flood Authority comment that North Worcestershire Water
Management can comment on their behalf.

41. North Worcestershire Water Management have no objections. They comment
that the recent much larger three classroom extension's connection to the existing
surface water system was acceptable and that it would be unreasonable to condition
soakaway or SuDS measures for this development. However, they do not rule out the
use of a soakaway or SuDS techniques, which are usually preferable.

42. Severn Trent Water Limited have no objections.

43. West Mercia Police have no objections.

44. Worcestershire Regulatory Services have no objections. They advise that, due
to the close proximity of other residents, the applicant should be directed to
Worcestershire Regulatory Services "Code of Best Practice for Demolition and

Construction Sites".

45. Worcestershire County Council's Sustainability Team have the following
comments:

e Are there opportunities to introduce renewable energy to power the building?

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 40



We would like to see the building strive for BREEAM very good where achievable
The timber should be responsibly sourced

Measures to reduce and manage the flow of water during intense rainfall are
welcome, such as the use of wide guttering with emergency overflow points

The design should be adaptable to future climate conditions.

Other Representations

46. The application has been advertised on site and by neighbour notification. One
letter of representation has been received stating an objection to the proposal. In
summary, the letter contained the following points:-

The school has received major financial expenditure over the past two years and
has some of the best facilities available. At a time when the public purse is
stretched, this building should not be allowed. Many local school lack basic
equipment and adequate accommodation. Surely the money should be spent in
these areas

We have been subjected to constant construction work at the site for the past two
years

The site is already over developed and the proposal would mean that barely any
grassland from the original school would remain, which isn't environmentally
friendly considering the car park constructed on part of the school playing field

Provision for the early years cabin should have been made during the recent
building work

There is sufficient space within the existing school to accommodate this
development with minor adaptation and at a much lower cost to the public purse.

Any private sector nursery will struggle to survive commercially if buildings such
as this are allowed using public fund.

The proposal would increase the chaotic and dangerous parking at pick up and
drop off times. The school does very little about inconsiderate parents when
dropping their children off

At times, it is not possible to turn left out of our driveway due to parents not being
prevented from parking on yellow lines outside the school

There are already different drop off times so the plans will increase the traffic at
these times. These parents are the worst culprits abusing residents’ property
access and the yellow zigzag lines

The school has too many powerful security lights following the completion of the
new building and it is like living next to an office block. We have spoken to the
school and the lights are now switched off late evening which is not sufficient for

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016

Page 41



our quality of sleep or quality of life. The additional building will make this more
intolerable

e A copy of the objection has been sent to Mr Sajid Javid MP as the school has
ridden roughshod over neighbours' concerns and continues to do so.

The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy's Comments

47. As with any planning application, this application should be determined in
accordance with the provisions of the Development Plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise. The relevant policies and key issues have been set
out earlier.

Need for the nursery building
48. The applicant states that the proposed nursery is required to address the
shortage of nursery places in the local area and their unsuitability for working parents.

49. Bromsgrove District Council and Blackwell and Lickey Parish Council have no
objections.

50. Interms of the development plan, Policy S28 (New And Enhanced Community
Facilities) of the Adopted Bromsgrove District Local Plan indicates that the provision of
enhanced community facilities will be supported providing there is no conflict with other
policies of the plan. Furthermore, Section 8, paragraph 72, of the National Planning
Policy Framework states that Local planning authorities should give great weight to the
need to create, expand or alter schools in order to meet the needs of existing
communities.

51. The applicant states that there is a need for nursery places that are convenient
for working parents in the Blackwell area. The development plan indicates that
provision of community facilities will be encouraged, whilst the National Planning policy
Framework accords great weight to the need to expand or alter schools. Taking in to
account the provisions of the development plan and the National Planning Policy
Framework, the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy considers that the
proposal would be acceptable in terms of need for the nursery and accords great
weight to this consideration. Other considerations must be balanced against this great
weight when assessing the proposal as a whole.

Location of the development
52. The proposal is for an early years building in the village of Blackwell.

53. Bromsgrove District Council and Blackwell and Lickey Parish Council have no
objections.

54. In terms of the development plan, Policy DS4 (Other Locations for Growth) of the
Adopted Bromsgrove District Local Plan states that any proposals for development in
Blackwell will need to accord with the policies of the plan. Paragraph 8.11 of the
Adopted Bromsgrove District Local Plan indicates that proposals appropriate to the
locality in question and which are compatible with other policies of the plan will be
considered favourably.

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 42



55. The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy considers that the proposal
would be appropriate for Blackwell in terms of the locally identified need for nursery
places. The proposal would, therefore, be acceptable in terms of the location of the
development, subject to according with other policies of the Adopted Bromsgrove
District Local Plan.

Residential Amenity
56. The proposal would be located in a predominantly residential area within the
grounds of the existing school.

57. A letter of representation stated an objection to the proposal on residential
amenity grounds (amongst other matters) including the impact from construction,
highways concerns at pick up and drop off times and high powered lighting.

58. Policy S19 (Incompatible Land Uses) of the Adopted Bromsgrove District Local
Plan states that in areas where residential uses predominate, land uses which would
adversely affect residential amenity through noise, smell, safety, traffic or health
reasons will not be allowed.

59. Interms of construction impacts, the applicant states that they anticipate the
building would be constructed from pre-fabricated panels to minimise the construction
time and impact, and that they would aim to minimise disruption to neighbours.
Worcestershire Regulatory Services have no objections and direct the applicant to their
code of best practice for demolition and construction sites. The Head of Strategic
Infrastructure and Economy recognises the concern about further construction at the
school and considers that it would have been preferable for the early years cabin to
have been planned for at the time of the most recent extension in 2015. However, it is
considered that the proposal would be acceptable in terms of construction impacts if
the applicant adheres to Worcestershire Regulatory Services' code of best practice,
and subject to the imposition of a condition limiting construction hours.

60. In terms of the highways concerns, the County Highways Officer has no
objections to the proposal. The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy
acknowledges that problems associated with users of the school at pick up and drop
off times are widespread throughout the County and are not desirable. It is advised that
a management solution between the school and parents would be the best way to
address this concern. However, in terms of the development plan, it is considered that
the proposal would be acceptable in terms of these highways concerns.

61. Interms of lighting, the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy notes that
the school needs to comply with a lighting condition imposed on the 2015 planning
permission for the three classroom extension. This is being investigated as a separate
matter to this planning application. With regards to this application, the Head of
Strategic Infrastructure and Economy considers that the impact from any lighting could
be suitably addressed through the imposition of a condition that would require lighting
to be acceptable in this residential area.

62. Taking in to account the responses of consultees and the provisions of the
development plan, the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy considers that the
proposal would be acceptable in terms of residential amenity.

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 43



Traffic and Highways Safety
63. The proposed development would provide nursery places for roughly 8-16
additional children and lead to the employment of two additional members of staff.

64. The County Highways Officer has no objections, subject to a condition requiring
the provision of cycle storage.

65. Policies TR1 and TR11 indicate that proposals should be considered against
County Highways Standards in terms of the road hierarchy and the provision of off-
street parking. Policy TR13 indicates that applications promoting the use of a variety of
transport will be viewed favourably.

66. Taking in to account the comments of the County Highways Officer, the Head of
Strategic Infrastructure and Economy considers that the proposal would be acceptable
in terms of traffic and highways safety. A condition requiring the installation of cycle
parking would ensure that the proposal accorded with Policy TR13 and would,
therefore, enhance its sustainability credentials.

Other Matters

Design

67. The proposal would involve the construction of an early years cabin at the rear of
the existing school between the south eastern boundary and the recently constructed
three classroom extension. This is a small area of grassland and a bark and timber
play area. A timber storage shed also occupies part of the site.

68. A letter of representation raised an objection to the proposal on the grounds that
the site is already over developed and that barely any grassland would remain.

69. Policy RAT4 (Retention of Open Space) indicates that publicly owned open
space of recreational and amenity value should be retained. Proposed development of
open space must demonstrate that there is unlikely to be a long-term need to retain it
for recreational or amenity purposes.

70. The proposal would involve a larger development than the existing storage shed
on the small area of land near the south-eastern boundary. The Head of Strategic
Infrastructure and Economy would prefer this area to remain undeveloped in order to
retain the open space at Blackwell school. However, it is considered that the site
currently holds limited amenity value for users of the school, and that suitable areas for
recreation would still exist on site in the event of development. It is, therefore,
considered that the proposal would accord with Policy RAT4 and be acceptable in
terms of design.

Conclusion

71. The proposal is for an early years cabin and boot room to provide a nursery at
Blackwell First School. The applicant states that there is a recognised need for nursery
places in the local area, and for a nursery that would be convenient for working
parents.

72. The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy considers that the proposal
would be acceptable in terms of need for the nursery in accordance with Section 8,

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 44



paragraph 72, of the National Planning Policy Framework, which accords great weight
to the need to expand or alter schools, and Policy S28 of the development plan.
Furthermore, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in terms of location when
assessed against Policy DS4 of the development plan, subject to being compatible with
other policies of the development plan. In view of the above, the great weight accorded
to the need for the nursery must be balanced against the other concerns surrounding
this application.

73. A letter of representation raised an objection on the grounds of harm to
residential amenity (amongst other objections). The Head of Strategic Infrastructure
and Economy recognises that the proposal would cause impacts in terms of
construction, highways concerns and lighting. However, in terms of the development
plan, the proposal would be acceptable through the imposition of planning conditions
and the recommendation for a management solution to the problems associated with
pick up and drop off times, which are common at many schools throughout the County.

74. Another objection was raised on the grounds that the proposal would over-
develop the Blackwell School site. The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy
would have preferred the small amount of open space to not be developed. However, it
is considered that the proposal would not result in the loss of such a significant amount
of open space as to be seen as unacceptable in terms of the development plan.

75. The proposal would also result in additional children and staff accessing the site
at pick up and drop off times, although the applicant states that these would be
staggered to avoid those of the main school. The County Highways Officer has no
objections to the proposal, subject to a condition requiring the installation of cycle
storage facilities. The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy, therefore,
considers that the proposal would be acceptable in terms of traffic and highways
safety.

76. In assessing the application as a whole, the great weight accorded to the need to
expand or alter schools by the National Planning Policy Framework is considered to
outweigh the other concerns outlined above. Furthermore, the other concerns are not
considered to be so significant as to conflict with the development plan.

77. Inview of the above, and taking in to account the provisions of the Development
Plan and in particular Policies DS3, DS4, DS13, S19, S28, S29, S31, C11, C17, TR1,
TR11, TR13, RAT4 and ES2 of the Adopted Bromsgrove District Local Plan and
Policies BDP1, BDP2, BDP12, BDP16, BDP19, BDP21, BDP22 and BDP23 of the
Draft Bromsgrove District Plan 2011-2031, it is considered the proposal would not
cause demonstrable harm to the interests intended to be protected by these policies or
highway safety.

Recommendation

78. The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy recommends that
planning permission be granted for the construction of a single storey building
to form an Early Years cabin and Forest School boot room at Blackwell First
School, St Catherine's Road, Blackwell subject to the following conditions:

a) The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years
beginning with the date of this permission;

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 45



b) The permission enures for the benefit of Worcestershire County Council
only;

Details

c) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with
the drawings titled " Site location plan", "Block plan as proposed”, Floor
plan as proposed" and "Elevations as proposed Roof plan as proposed”,
except where otherwise stipulated by conditions attached to this
permission;

d) Notwithstanding any indication of the materials, which may have been
given in this application, prior to the construction of the development
hereby approved, a schedule and/or samples of the materials and finishes
for the development shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the
County Planning Authority. Thereafter the development shall be carried out
in accordance with the approved details;

Lighting

e) Details of any lighting to be installed at the site shall be submitted to the
County Planning Authority for approval in writing prior to being erected.
These details shall include:

i. Height of the lighting posts;
ii.  Intensity of the lights;
iii.  Spread of light (in metres);
iv.  Any measure proposed to minimise the impact of the lighting or
disturbance through glare; and
v. Times when the lighting would be illuminated;

Drainage

f) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the drainage
strategy outlined in the document titled "Design & Access Statement”,
which was submitted to the County Planning Authority on 14 September
2016;

Ecology

g) Inthe unlikely event that any protected species are found on the site during
the works then all works must cease immediately and the advice of a
suitably qualified ecologist must be sought prior to works re-commencing;

h) No removal of vegetation shall take place between 1 March and 31 August
inclusive, unless a competent ecologist has undertaken a careful, detailed
check of vegetation for active birds’ nests immediately before the
vegetation is cleared and provided written confirmation that no birds will be
harmed and/or that there are appropriate measures in place to protect
nesting bird interest on site. Any such written confirmation should be
submitted to the local planning authority;

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 46



)

k)

Trees and hedgerows to be retained throughout the scheme should be
given adequate protection as per BS5837:2012 with appropriate

"biodiversity protection zone", "root protection zone" or similar signage
installed;

Within 6 months of the completion of the development, details of one bat
and one bird box (including the location) shall be submitted to the County
Planning Authority for approval in writing. Thereafter, the bat and bird
boxes shall be installed in accordance with the approved details within 3
months of approval being received,;

Highways

The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the
applicant has submitted to and had approved in writing by the County
Planning Authority details demonstrating that secure parking for two
bicycles has been installed in accordance with the drawing titled "Block
plan as proposed 03A A3", which was submitted to the County Planning
Authority on 21 October 2016; and

Construction

Construction works shall only be carried out on the site between 08:00 to
18:00 hours on Mondays to Fridays inclusive, and 08:00 to 13:00 hours on
Saturdays, with no construction work on Sundays, Bank Holidays, or Public
Holidays.

Contact Points

County Council Contact Points

County Council: 01905 763763
Worcestershire Hub: 01905 765765
Email: worcestershirehub@worcestershire.gov.uk

Specific Contact Points for this report

Case Officer: Joshua Scholes, Planning Officer
Tel: 01905 844485
Email: jscholes@worcestershire.gov.uk

Mark Bishop, Development Control Manager
Tel: 01905 766709

Email:

mbishop@worcestershire.qgov.uk

Background Papers

In the opinion of the proper officer (in this case the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and
Economy) the following are the background papers relating to the subject matter of this

report:

The application, plans and consultation replies in file reference 16/000025/REG3.

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016

Page 47


mailto:worcestershirehub@worcestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jscholes@worcestershire.gov.uk
mailto:mbishop@worcestershire.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank



o W ) .
o .."‘"-fﬂ?c; 5 L
= |

Shigpley §
Enoll /);:

Linthurst
Caurt

=

Shepley Fa

) -"-J ' T “...
/ o )
.'J \ g '._,r_,;.’:,.-w__siudles Canire
j /
L 4 i

@ Crown copyright and 0 50 250 500 metres s x
database rights 2016 _ = = = F@ WorceSthSh I re

== county council

Ordnance Survey 100024230, | Proposed construction of single storey building to form

Early Years cabin and Forest School boot room at Worcestershire County Council
Indicative Scale: 1:10,000 Blackwell First School County Haill
Ref: 16/000025/REG3 Spetchley Road
Date Printed: 101 1/2016 Worcester
WRS 2MNP

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



el

N4 7
The Stahles Centre ',“'/
&

\
Blackwsll . %o
Enviranmental ——_

J

A

| School Playing Fie

\ \Q:' Fisld
s A
i N
o

Hill Belds /J 5

.

Hunters Hill
Technology College
(Special Needs Schaal}

Y
I

f I.'"-l

P

[St Catherine’s Road|
7y B

Farm [ i
W
. ",
J *
W !
T vl
\‘ '.I
.\
<y
N
Y
Fail.
s
',
\‘_\ % o
. ~
2 ™,
W N

4

: - L
¢ Bhelter

[Blackwell First School] |

e ', gy

® Crown copyright and
database rights 2016

¢ e
<
Y ™ /ﬁ.& 4 :
45 -—’/ i b e
k \/ .rf& -~ (}’
S, A9 /, \’4;“ P N
S0 100 metres

Crdnance Survey 100024230,

Indicative Scale: 1:2,500

Date Printed: 1041 12016

Proposed construction of single storey building to form
Early Years cabin and Forest School boot room at

Blackwell First School
Ref: 16/000025/REG3

‘worcestersh
county council

YWarcestershire County Council

County Hall
Spetchley Road
Worcester
WRS 2NP

Page 51




This page is intentionally left blank



= worcestershire
</'countycouncil AGENDA ITEM 7

PLANNING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE
6 DECEMBER 2016

PROPOSED CHANGE OF USE FROM MIXED USE D1
(LIBRARIES) AND B1 (OFFICES) TO MIXED USE D1
(LIBRARIES), B1 (OFFICES) AND A2 (FINANCIAL AND
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES) AT REDDITCH LIBRARY, 115,
MARKET PLACE, REDDITCH, WORCESTERSHIRE

Applicant
Worcestershire County Council

Local Members
Mr A Fry and Ms P Hill

Purpose of Report

1. To consider an application under Regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning
Regulations 1992 for a change of use from mixed use D1 (Libraries) and B1 (Offices)
to mixed use D1 (Libraries), B1 (Offices) and A2 (Financial and Professional Services)
at Redditch Library.

Background

2.  The applicant states that Worcestershire County Council's Libraries and Learning
Service has identified a number of approaches to meet its savings targets for 2016/17
and 2017/18, whilst protecting the library service for customers.

3. A key approach to meeting the savings targets is to generate income through
sharing library buildings with internal and external organisations. A combination of a
reduction in premises costs and the generation of rental income will help to ensure the
future of the library service.

4.  The applicant states that this approach is part of a broader initiative called the
'‘One Public Estate Programme’, which is delivered through the Cabinet Office and the
Local Government Association. The programme provides practical and technical
support to public sector organisations who want to share accommodation so that more
of their funding can be directed to front line service provision.

5.  Worcestershire County Council has already initiated collaborative projects in
Worcester, Bromsgrove, Malvern and Stourport where national government agencies
have co-located within local authority buildings.

6.  This proposal would see a Jobcentre Plus move in to Redditch Library. The
activities undertaken by this organisation would be in use class A2 (Financial and
Professional Services) meaning that a change of use application is required.

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 53



7. Interms of the site's planning history, the Planning and Regulatory Committee
granted planning permission for the change of use to a mixed use development at
Redditch Library on Tuesday 23 September 2014 (Minute no. 889 refers). The
proposals for this application included internal alterations that would facilitate Children's
Services service delivery and create office accommodation for Worcestershire County
Council staff (possibly including the Citizens Advice Bureau).

The Proposal

8.  Worcestershire County Council is seeking permission for a change of use from
mixed use D1 (Libraries) and B1 (Offices) to mixed use D1 (Libraries), B1 (Offices) and
A2 (Financial and Professional Services) at Redditch Library.

9.  The proposal would involve the following elements:

Jobcentre Plus

e A public sector organisation whose activities come under use class A2 (Financial
and Professional Services) would move in to Redditch Library. The move would
result in 50 additional full-time employees at the site

e The Jobcentre Plus would occupy approximately 426m? of office space on the
first and second floors. The office space on the first floor measuring
approximately 320m? would be accessible to the public to allow the organisation
to provide its service. The second floor office space measuring approximately
106m? would not be accessible to the public

Re-configuration of Library Service

e The library service would have dedicated space on the ground floor and shared
space on the first floor totalling approximately 781m? in area. The existing library
space measures approximately 905m? in area. This application would, therefore,
result in total library space being reduced by roughly 124m?. However, the
applicant states that they do not expect a reduction in the provision of core library
services

Public Meeting Rooms

e A new meeting room would be provided on the ground floor. Existing meeting
rooms on the first floor would be relocated to the second floor. The indicative
plans indicate that this would result in the provision of 4 publicly accessible
meeting rooms

External Changes
e No external changes are proposed.

10. The applicant states that they undertook three consultations at Redditch Library
on 30 August 2016, 1 September 2016 and 5 September 2016. Indicative layouts were
displayed and each consultation was attended by representatives of Worcestershire
County Council's Library Services, Place Partnership and Jacobs UK. Councillors were
consulted on 30 August 2016, whilst the public were consulted on 1 September 2016
and 5 September 2016. A number of comments were received and these were
included in the applicant's Design and Access Statement accompanying the
application.

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 54



11. The comments are wide ranging in terms of the issues they cover. The applicant
responded to the points in the submission of this application. The following points were
raised:

e Concern over the cost of the changes and naming of the public sector
organisation. The applicant responded that the costs have not been finalised but
will be borne by the public sector organisation. The organisation would be named
when their governance process allows

e Concern over a reduction in display areas and quiet study areas. The applicant
responded that an alternative location for displays would be identified. Also, when
finalising layout plans, consideration would be given to locating space for private
study in quieter areas

e The library is a victim of council cuts and it is an important public asset. The
applicant responded that the council faces reduced budgets and that spending
needs to be reduced to avoid impacting front line services. The libraries service is
committed to meeting savings targets whilst protecting services for customers in
Redditch

e The character of the library would be changed to that of an office block. The
applicant responded that they are committed to retaining a light, open and
modern feel to the library, and that there is currently underutilised space in the
library

e Concern over a reduction in books and the proportion of library spend being
allocated to Redditch. The applicant responded that all existing shelving can be
accommodated to re-configure the library space. Book allocation is determined
by a range of factors and the library's share of total book issues, visitors and
borrowers. Feedback over the range of stock should be sent to the Local Library
manager Teresa Jordan

e Concern over the reduction in meeting room space for Tai Chi and Mugai Ryu
classes. The applicant responded that they are committed to providing a range of
Adult Learning classes at the library to meet local needs. There are no plans to
reduce or remove any classes as part of the proposals. The library manager
would work with the Adult Learning team to identify a solution to allow the course
to continue

e Concern over worsening of services and security as a result of the changes. The
applicant responded that all services in the library building would work together to
ensure security issues are managed to maintain a safe and welcoming
environment. The partner organisation may wish to provide security, which will be
provided at their expense.

The Site

12. Redditch Library is located in Redditch town centre. The library is located
immediately adjacent to the town's market place on Redditch's high street.

13. The site measures approximately 970m? in area.

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 55



14. The library is accessible by foot directly off the U31040 (Market Place). In terms
of transport, Redditch railway and bus stations are located approximately 0.3
kilometres from the library (approximately a 6 minute walk). Several large car parks
serving the adjacent Kingfisher Shopping Centre are also within walking distance of
the library. These car parks provide a total of 2500 parking spaces, including disabled
spaces. Cycle storage with the capacity for 12 bicycles is provided at the entrance to
the library for staff and visitors. The Library is also located approximately 180 metres
south of a National Cycle Route, which runs from Bromsgrove Road to Easemore
Road before connecting to various Regional Cycle Routes.

15. The site is surrounded by a variety of land uses including Redditch market place
to the north, the Kingfisher Shopping Centre to the south, government offices to the
east, and a number of smaller shops and convenience stores along Alcester Street to
the west. It is understood that there are no residential properties in the immediate
vicinity of the library.

16. The site is located in the Redditch Conservation Area.

17. The Library building itself is a three storey structure which was completed in
1976. The building has a reinforced concrete frame and has both its interior and
exterior elevations clad in handmade facing brick. The building is fully Disability

Discrimination Act 2005 (DDA) compliant.

18. In terms of floorspace, the existing situation on site is approximately as follows:

Publicly accessible library area: 905m?
Publicly accessible meeting rooms: 120m?
Publicly accessible computer area 120m?
Staff room 56m?

Total floorspace 1201m*

19. The application site falls within Flood Zone 1 (a low risk zone).
Summary of Issues

20. The main issues in the determination of this application:-
Reduction in Library floorspace
Location of the development

Traffic and Highways Safety
Other Matters.

Planning Policy

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

21. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published and came into
effect on 27 March 2012. The NPPF sets out the Government's planning policies for
England and how these are expected to be applied. It constitutes guidance for local
planning authorities and decision takers and is a material planning consideration in
determining planning applications. Annex 3 of the NPPF lists the documents revoked

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 56



and replaced by the NPPF. At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of
sustainable development, which should be seen as a golden thread running through
plan-making and decision-taking.

22. Sustainable Development is defined by five principles set out in the UK
Sustainable Development Strategy:

"living within the planet's environmental limits;
ensuring a strong, healthy and just society;
achieving a sustainable economy;

promoting good governance; and

using sound science responsibly”.

23. The Government believes that sustainable development can play three critical
roles in England:

e an economic role, contributing to a strong, responsive, competitive economy

e asocial role, supporting vibrant and healthy communities and

e an environmental role, protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic
environment.

24. The following guidance contained in the NPPF is considered to be of specific
relevance to the determination of this planning application:-

Section 2: Ensuring the vitality of town centres

Section 4: Promoting sustainable transport

Section 7: Requiring good design

Section 8: Promoting healthy communities

Section 12: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

The Development Plan

25. The Development Plan is the strategic framework that guides land use planning
for the area. In this respect the current Development Plan consists of the Borough of
Redditch Local Plan No. 3 2006.

26. Planning applications should be determined in accordance with the provisions of
the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF
is a material consideration in planning decisions.

Borough of Redditch Local Plan No.3 2006

Policy CS.5 Achieving Balanced Communities

Policy CS.7 The Sustainable Location of Development
Policy B(BE).13 Qualities of Good Design

Policy B(BE).14 Alterations and Extensions

Policy B(BE).28 Waste Management

Policy E(TCR).1 Vitality and Viability of the Town Centre
Policy E(TCR).4 Need and the Sequential Approach
Policy C(CF).1 Community Facilities

Policy C(T).12 Parking Standards

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 57



Draft Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4

27. The Borough of Redditch Local Plan No.4 (BORLP4) will outline the strategic
planning policy framework for guiding development in the Borough of Redditch up to
2030. It will set a long-term spatial vision and will include strategic objectives, a
spatial strategy, core policies, strategic and non-strategic site allocations, and a
monitoring and implementation framework. The Plan includes the Redditch Cross
Boundary Development Policy (Policy RCBD1), which also appears in the Draft
Bromsgrove District Plan.

28. Redditch Borough Council submitted the Draft BORLP4 to the Secretary of State
for independent examination in March 2014. The Secretary of State has appointed an
independent Inspector (Mr Michael J Hetherington) to undertake an independent
examination into the soundness of the plan. BORLP4 and the Draft Bromsgrove
District Plan examinations are being held concurrently and have included several joint
hearing sessions as well as separate hearing sessions relating to each Local Plan.
Hearing sessions commenced June 2014 and ran until March 2016.

29. The Inspector published a list of proposed Main Modifications to the submitted
BORLP4 which he considered were required to make the plan sound. The Inspector’'s
proposed Main Modifications were published for an eight week consultation from 27
July to 21 September 2016.

30. The Examination formally remains open until the Inspector issues his binding
report and it is possible that further hearings could be held if the Inspector chooses to
do so. In the circumstances the BORLP4 cannot yet be declared sound and cannot
be adopted. It is not yet, therefore, part of the development plan. However, having
regard to the advice in the NPPF, Annex 1, it is the view of the Head of Strategic
Infrastructure and Economy, that whilst full weight cannot be attached to the
BORLP4, significant weight should be attached to the BORLP4 in the determination
of this application. The draft BORLP4 policies that are relevant to the proposal are
listed below:

Policy 1 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
Policy 2 Settlement Hierarchy

Policy 5 Effective and Efficient Use of Land

Policy 15 Climate Change

Policy 20 Transport Requirements for New Development
Policy 30 Town Centre and Retail Hierarchy

Policy 31 Regeneration for the Town Centre

Policy 36 Historic Environment

Policy 37 Historic Buildings and Structures

Policy 38 Conservation Areas

Policy 39 Built Environment

Consultations

31. County Councillor Pattie Hill comments that it is good to see this application
coming forward.

32. Redditch Borough Council has no objections.

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 58



33. The County Ecologist has no objections on the understanding that no external
alterations to the building would take place, including works within roof voids or
soffits.

34. The County Highways Officer has no objections.
35. The County Landscape Officer has no objections.
36. Hereford and Worcester Fire and Rescue Service have no objections.

37. West Mercia Police have no objections. They comments that the internal
security of the building would need further thought. Further advice could be provided
if the public sector organisation's work was known.

38. Worcestershire Regulatory Services have no objections.

39. Worcestershire County Council's Sustainability Team have the following
comments:

e They would like to see all areas of the building utilising energy efficient lighting
and equipment to limit energy demands

e They would like to see that the new provider area of the building is sub metered
to allow for accurate accounts of energy use for reporting purposes and accurate
billing.

Other Representations

40. The application has been advertised in the press and on site. Two letters of
representation have been received stating objections to the proposal. In summary,
the letters contained the following points:

e No mention of the "flawed" 2014 application where a change of use was passed

e Concerns raised about arrangements for the storage and collection of waste for
all organisations that are going to occupy the building

e Will the site be connecting to the existing drainage system?

e Concerns that the Design and Access Statement did not make it clear that the
plans displayed at the public consultation were only indicative and may not be
used

e Objection to the loss of the large meeting rooms which have been used by the
Redditch Local History Society for several years. The monthly meetings attract 60
attendees and no provision has been made for meetings of this size in the
proposed layout. The proposed meeting rooms are only small/medium sized. The
Society accepts change is necessary for financial reasons but hope the changes
do not result in degradation of library services, or, the unacceptable loss of a
meeting space capable of holding up to 100.

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 59



The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy's Comments

41. As with any planning application, this application should be determined in
accordance with the provisions of the Development Plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise. The relevant policies and key issues have been set
out earlier.

Reduction in Library floorspace

42. The applicant is proposing to move a Jobcentre Plus in to Redditch Library. The
applicant states that the co-location would support the library service in meeting its
savings targets, whilst protecting the library service for customers. The organisation
would occupy approximately 426m? of office space on the first and second floors. This
would necessitate a reduction in overall library floorspace from approximately 905m?
to 781m?. The applicant states that there would not be a reduction in the provision of
core library services.

43. In terms of consultees, County Councillor Hill welcomes the application and
Redditch Borough Council have no objections.

44. A letter of representation stated an objection to the loss of the existing large
meeting rooms at the library. The letter stated that the proposed small-medium sized
meeting rooms would not be sufficient to host monthly meetings attracting 60 or more
attendees.

45. In terms of the development plan, Policy CS.5 (Achieving Balances Communities)
of the Borough of Redditch Local Plan No.3 2006 states that proposals helping to
sustain and improve the balance of community and social facilities should maximise
the use of existing infrastructure. Further to this, Policy C(CF).1 (Community
Facilities) indicates that proposals for the development of community facilities will be
permitted where they would not adversely affect the functioning of that facility.

46. The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy considers that co-locating a
Jobcentre Plus at Redditch Library would assist the applicant in meeting their savings
targets and protecting the library service. However, it is important that the co-location
would not compromise the full provision of the existing library service or community
facilities.

47. The applicant's statement that there would not be a reduction in the provision of
core library services and consideration of the indicative plans is considered to
mitigate the concerns over the reduction in library space sufficiently.

48. In terms of the concerns expressed about the potential loss of a large meeting
space, the applicant states that Redditch Library have a positive and active
relationship with the Redditch Local History Society and that they do not anticipate
any reduction in facilities available for the Society as a result of the proposal.
Furthermore, the applicant states that the Society currently hold their monthly
meetings in a meeting room measuring approximately 54m? and that a meeting room
would be available for them following the proposed changes that would measure
about 58m?. There have also been no instances in the past three years where a
community hirer has required seating for 100 people. The applicant, therefore,
considers that the proposed changes would more than meet the current provision. In

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 60



view of these comments, the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy considers
that the concerns over the potential loss of a large meeting space can be mitigated for
adequately.

49. On balance, the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy considers that the
proposal would accord with policies CS.5 and C(CF).1, and would be acceptable in
terms of a reduction in library floorspace.

Location of the development

50. The applicant is proposing a change of use that would involve use class A2
(Financial and Professional Services) development being located at Redditch Library
in Redditch Town Centre.

51. In terms of the development plan, Policy CS.7 (The Sustainable Location of
Development) of the Borough of Redditch Local Plan No.3 2006 states that uses
attracting a lot of people will be directed to the town centre, primarily on previously
developed (brownfield) land. Policy E(TCR).1 (Vitality and Viability of the Town
Centre) indicates that the town centre should be the primary focus for commercial and
public office development and that the diversification of the town centre should be
promoted to provide mixed use areas.

52. The applicant states that the proposal would result in an additional 50 full-time
employees working at the Redditch Library site. Furthermore, the Jobcentre Plus's
activities would involve face to face meetings with members of the public at the site.
In view of this, the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy considers that the
proposed development would accord with Policy CS.7 because the change of use
would involve large numbers of employees and the public coming to Redditch Library,
which is also a previously developed site. Further to this, the Head of Strategic
Infrastructure and Economy considers that the proposal would accord with Policy
E(TCR).1 because the use class would involve the establishment of public offices in
Redditch town centre. The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy therefore
considers that the proposal would be acceptable in terms of the location of the
development.

Traffic and Highways Safety

53. The proposal would involve an additional 50 full-time employees being located at
Redditch Library. The Jobcentre Plus that would co-locate at the Library would
undertake activities involving meeting members of the public. No external changes to
the Library are proposed.

54. The County Highways Officer has no objections.

55. In terms of the development plan, Policy CS.7 indicates that development
attracting large numbers of people should be directed to the town centre because
town centre locations allow people to make good use of public transport and provide
opportunities for linked journeys (i.e. a secondary journey that follows a primary
journey, often for another purpose).

56. The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy considers that the proposal
would be located in a sustainable location in terms of traffic and highways safety. The
development would provide multiple opportunities for multiple modes of transport.
Furthermore, the County Highways Officer has no objections. In view of this, the

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 61



Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy considers that the proposal would
accord with Policy CS.7 and would, therefore, be acceptable in terms of traffic and
highways safety.

Other Matters

57. The County Planning Authority received one letter of representation objecting to
the proposal. In terms of planning, the letter raised concerns regarding arrangements
for the storage and collection of waste for all organisations that would occupy the
building, whether the site would connect to the existing drainage system, and
concerns that the plans provided with this application are only indicative. These points
shall be addressed in turn:

Storage and collection of waste

58. The applicant states that the development would make use of the existing waste
arrangements in place at Redditch Library, which are sufficient. The applicant states
that the amount of waste is unlikely to change dramatically. They also state that the
waste from the Jobcentre Plus would be more likely to be confidential and, therefore,
handled by a specialist waste organisation, which would reduce demand on regular
waste management services.

59. Policy B(BE).28 (Waste Management) of the Borough of Redditch Local Plan
No0.3 2006 seeks to minimise waste through re-use, retention and recycling.

60. The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy considers that the existing
arrangements at the site would be sufficient in terms of the development plan.

Drainage

61. In terms of drainage, no external changes are proposed. The applicant states that
there would only be minor internal alterations. In view of this, the Head of Strategic
Infrastructure and Economy considers that the existing drainage arrangements at
Redditch Library would be sufficient.

Indicative Plans

62. Indicative plans were displayed at public consultations described in paragraph 10
of this report. The plans state that they are indicative internal layouts. The County
Planning Authority advised the applicant to submit indicative floorplans with their
proposal at a pre-application meeting on 11 May 2016. This was to allow the
applicant a degree of practical flexibility in their internal arrangements if planning
permission were to be granted.

63. In terms of the concern set out in the letter of representation, the Head of
Strategic Infrastructure and Economy considers that the reduction in library
floorspace would be acceptable in view of the applicant's statement that there would
be no reduction in the provision of core library services.

Conclusion

64. The proposal is for a change of use application to enable use class A2 (Financial
and Professional Services) activities to take place at Redditch Library. The change of

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 62



use would involve a Jobcentre Plus co-locating to Redditch Library, which would
necessitate a reduction in overall library floorspace.

65. The proposal would be acceptable in terms of the overall loss of floorspace in
accordance with Policies CS.5 and C(CF).1 because the applicant states that there
would be no reduction in the provision of core library services. Furthermore, the
proposal would contribute to protecting the library service by assisting the applicant in
meeting their savings targets.

66. The proposal would be acceptable in terms of the location of the development
because Policies CS.7 and E(TCR).1 direct development that would attract large
numbers of people and public office provision respectively towards Redditch town
centre. Policy CS.7 also indicates that the proposal would be acceptable in terms of
traffic and highways safety because Redditch Library is located in a sustainable town
centre location.

67. In terms of other matters, the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy that
arrangements for waste, drainage and the indicative plans are acceptable in terms of
the development plan.

68. Taking in to account the provisions of the Development Plan and in particular
Policies CS.5, CS.7, B(BE).13, B(BE).14, B(BE).28, E(TCR).1, E(TCR).4, C(CF).1
and C(T).12 of the Borough of Redditch Local Plan No.3 2006 and Policies 1, 2, 5,
15, 20, 30, 31, 36, 37, 38 and 39 of the Draft Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, it
is considered the proposal would not cause demonstrable harm to the interests
intended to be protected by these policies or highway safety.

Recommendation

69. The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy recommends that
planning permission be granted for a change of use from mixed use D1
(Libraries) and B1 (Offices) to mixed use D1 (Libraries), B1 (Offices) and A2
(Financial and Professional Services) at Redditch Library, subject to the
following conditions:

a) The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years
beginning with the date of this permission;

b) The permission enures for the benefit of Worcestershire County Council only;
and

c) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with
the drawing titled "Location Plan" (Ref. BW 20013L/R/PL 01).

Contact Points

County Council Contact Points

County Council: 01905 763763

Worcestershire Hub: 01905 765765

Email: worcestershirehub@worcestershire.gov.uk

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 63


mailto:worcestershirehub@worcestershire.gov.uk

Specific Contact Points for this report

Case Officer: Joshua Scholes, Planning Officer
Tel: 01905 844485

Email: jscholes@worcestershire.gov.uk

Mark Bishop, Development Control Manager
Tel: 01905 766709
Email: mbishop@worcestershire.gov.uk

Background Papers

In the opinion of the proper officer (in this case the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and
Economy) the following are the background papers relating to the subject matter of this
report:

The application, plans and consultation replies in file reference 16/000023/REGS3.

Planning and Regulatory Committee — 6 December 2016
Page 64


mailto:jscholes@worcestershire.gov.uk
mailto:mbishop@worcestershire.gov.uk

.'{‘

Swdhin

® Crown copyright and
database rights 2016
Crdnance Survey 100024230,

|Application
e Y
e :

500 metres

250

Indicative Scale: 1.10,000

Date Printed: 1041 12016

ANTIRY
i worcestershire
< county council

Proposed Change of Use from Mixed Use D1
(Libraries) and B1 {Offices) to Mixed Use D1 (Libraries),
B1 (Offices) and A2 (Financial and Professional
Services) at Redditch Library

Ref: 16/000023/REG3

YWarcestershire County Council
County Hall
Spetchley Road
Worcester
WRE 2MP

Page 65




This page is intentionally left blank



Kinghsher
|_sh Centre -

“©Cromn copyigntand - 4 100 metres | ‘ﬁgﬁ?worcestershwe

database rights 2016

Ordnance Survey 100024230, Proposed Change of Use from Mixed Use D1 = county council

{Libraries) and B1 {Offices) to Mixed Use D1 (Libraries),| ‘worcestershire County Council

Indicative Scale: 1:2,500 B1 (Offices) and A2 (Financial and Professional County Haill
Services) at Redditch Library Spetchley Road
Date Printed: 10/11/2016 Ref 16/000023/REG3 \G\-‘V%rgezs[\zg

Page 67




This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	5 Proposed change of use of agricultural buildings and associated land to reclamation facility (MRF) at Weights Farm, Weights Lane, Redditch, Worcestershire
	pl2016-12-06 Weights Lane - Plan A
	pl2016-12-06 Weights Lane - Plan B
	Sheets and Views
	Topo_Layout



	6 Proposed construction of a single storey building to form an early years cabin and forest school  boot room at Blackwell First School, St Catherine's Road, Blackwell
	pl2016-12-06 Blackwell First School - Plan A
	pl2016-12-06 Blackwell First School - Plan B

	7 Proposed change of use from mixed use D1 (Libraries) and B1 (Offices) to mixed use D1 (Libraries), B1 (Offices) and A2 (Financial and Professional Services) at Redditch Library, 115, Market Place, Redditch, Worcestershire
	pl2016-12-06 Redditch Library - Plan A
	pl2016-12-06 Redditch Library - Plan B




